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ABOUT
AP RENTALS

ARl HEE

We are a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong with the capability of providing a wide range of
construction, E&M engineering and event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions and
value-added services to our customers. We serve a diverse range of customers including leading construction and
E&M engineering companies and large scale event and entertainment companies. Our rental equipment principally
covers power and energy equipment, high-reach equipment, material handling equipment and other
equipment (include lifting, earth moving, foundation, road and transportation, tunneling, demolition and
small equipment).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of AP Rentals Holdings
Limited ("AP Rentals” or the "Company”), | hereby present the audited
consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year” or
“FY2020").

For FY2020, the Group had a total revenue of approximately HK$145.8
million, representing a decrease of approximately 0.2% as compared to
that of approximately HK$146.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2019
(“FY2019"). The Group's loss for the Year increased from approximately
HKS$2.5 million in FY2019 to loss for the Year of approximately HK$19.7
million in FY2020. Please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” (‘MD&A") for details of the Group’s business
performance for FY2020. The Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, which summarizes our effort and performance in promoting and
strengthening corporate social responsibility among the Group during the
Year, will be published separately within three months after the publication
of the annual report of the Company.

It has been a challenging year for the Group as market sentiments continue
to be filled with uncertainties due to the Sino-US trade war, the months of
large-scale protests in Hong Kong in the second half of the year 2019 and
the outbreak of Coronavirus disease 2019 (the “COVID-19") since January
2020, which has then become a pandemic. The pandemic has significantly
affected firstly the economy of People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong
Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan for
the purpose of this annual report) (“PRC") and later globally. The Group’s
leasing business has been affected by the pandemic in the PRC.

In FY2020, the overall market sentiment of the construction industry in
Hong Kong was poor and price competition was keen for the construction
and its related businesses due to the completion of key projects, namely,
the Express Rail Hong Kong section (“Express Rail HK") and the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao bridge Hong Kong boundary Crossing Facilities
("HZMB"). Furthermore, existing key projects faced difficulties in their
progress. For instance, the work progress of the third Runway of the Hong
Kong International Airport (the “Third Runway”) has experienced a delay
in most of the year 2019 and has only started to speed up after September
2019.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

Even in such a challenging year, the Group only recorded a minor decrease
in revenue of approximately HK$0.3 million or 0.2% as compared to that of
approximately HK$146.1 million for FY2019. The main reason was that this
year the Group has devoted more effort on machinery sales, especially for
overseas. The Group recorded approximately HK$27.6 million for FY2020,
which accounted for approximately 18.9% of the Group's total revenue for
FY2020 (FY2019: approximately HK$10.5 million). Nevertheless, the price
competition is very keen, which inevitably reduce the gross profit of the
Group.

However, the Group still made investment in new, advanced and specific
machines in FY2020, including the generators for our newly introduced
Automatic Power System (“APS”) in the Smart System in Mobile Electricity
("SSME") , crawler cranes and excavator in FY2020 (approximately HK$68.8
million). The Group expected to continue its invest in SSME in the year
ending 31 March 2021 ("FY2021") so as to avoid intensive price
competition, which will further jeopardize our gross profit. For details,
please refer to the MD&A section. In FY2021, the Group is still focusing on
the key projects in Hong Kong, namely the Third Runway, Central Kowloon
Route and the Kai Tak Sports Park.

For the Group businesses in PRC, we have acquired 5o & 72 5% T A2 4%
(L)) AR A A] Ajax Pong (Shanghai) Limited* (its name was changed to
AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited*) ("AP Shanghai”) on 20 September 2019
but its performance has been hit by the COVID-19 in February and March
2020. However, the PRC government has released some economic
stimulus. The Group will try to seek business opportunities to be generated
by these economic stimulus so as to improve the performance of AP
Shanghaiin FY2021.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

For the machinery sales, the COVID-19 has hit our oversea sales. The Group
will keep continuous attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and
implement necessary action to maintain our machinery sales overseas in
FY2021.

Looking ahead, the Group would continue its investment in advanced
machines to alleviate the effect of price competition and will be
continuously disposing of our aged machines so as to maintain the
competitiveness and profitability of the Group in FY2021. More importantly,
the Group is ready to make quick and right responses to any change in the
economy globally caused by the pandemic, either on the positive or
negative side.

Last but not least, | would like to express my gratitude to the board for its
brilliant leadership, the entire staff for their untiring efforts during the Year,
as well as the strong support from our shareholders (the “Shareholders”). |
would also like to thank our investors, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their backing. We will continue to fortify AP Rental's leadership
in the equipment rental industry, realize sustainable growth and generate
satisfactory returns for Shareholders.

The board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

By Order of the Board

Mr. Lau Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
29 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B IR E 5 i L o AT

GROUP OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong.
The principal activities of the Group encompass the provision of
equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services to customers.
The Group owns and maintains a strong rental fleet of over 2,250 units of
equipment as at 31 March 2020 and also rents equipment from its
suppliers, mainly from its shareholder and strategic partner, Kanamoto Co,,
Ltd. ("KJC"), which is one of the leading construction equipment rental
groups in Japan.

The Group strives to serve our valuable customers better with the provision
of the equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services. For
FY2020, the Group recorded a loss for the year of approximately HK$19.7
million as compared to the loss for the year of approximately HK$2.5
million for FY2019. The increase in loss for the year for FY2020 is mainly
attributable to:

1. the change in the mix of the revenue lines in FY2020 as compared to
that of FY2019, which is mainly a result of:

(i) the decrease in leasing of machinery by around 9.3%, which is
mainly due to:

the poor economic sentiment due to the trade war
between the United States of America (the “US") and
Ching;

completion of large casino projects in Macau;

the demand for the key project, the Third Runway,
being far below that expected due to the unexpected
delay of its progress;

the above reasons thus leading to reduction in demand
for machinery and then price competition in Hong
Kong and Macau; and

the outbreak of the COVID-19 since January 2020, which
has then become a pandemic; and had halted the
Group's leasing business in the PRC in February 2020
and affected those in March 2020;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

1.

*

(Continued)

(i) the decrease in operating service income of around 22.2%,
which is due to the shrinking in demand for operators upon
the completion of various key projects in Hong Kong,
including the Express Rail and the HKZMB, and the shift of the
Group's focus due to its inherent risk in employing and
managing the operators;

(i) the decrease in other service income of around 36.1%, which
mainly contributed by the decrease of the income from
transportation; and

(iv)  anincrease in sales of machinery and spare parts by around
161.6% was recorded in FY2020 when compared to that of
FY2019, as the Group sold more machines overseas.

a decline of around 38.5% in the overall gross profit margin as
compared to that of FY2019, which is mainly a result of:

(i) price competition due to the reasons mentioned in paragraph
1()) above;

(i) written off of the aged construction equipment in the Group's
stock amounted to approximately HK$536,000 (FY2019: nil)
after considering the deterioration of the global economy due
to the outbreak of COVID-19; and

(i) increase in depreciation expenses due to continuous
investment in advanced machines and the acquisition of 38 1&
FEZR TR (8)E R 2 E] AP Shanghai (formerly
known as Ajax Pong (Shanghai) Limited*), which became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company upon completion of
the acquisition. AP Shanghai is principally engaging in the
construction equipment rental services business in the PRC;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHREH T

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)
3. the increase in expected credit loss of the Group because the default
risk has increased globally due to the outbreak of COVID-19

4. no commission income was recognised for provision of service to
Kanamoto (HK) Co,, Ltd, ("KHK") which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of one of the Company’s shareholders, KJC in FY2020 (FY2019:
approximately HK$1.7 million); and

5. impairment loss recognised on rental machinery amounted to
approximately HK$2.5 million (FY2019: nil).

However, the Group has implemented strategies to strive for long term
success. As such, in FY2020, the Group has invested in new, advanced and
specific machines, including the generators for our newly introduced APS
in the SSME, crawler cranes and excavator amounting to approximately
HK$68.8 million (FY2019: approximately HK$91.8 million). On the other
hand, we continued our disposal of approximately HK$15.9 million (being
the net book value) of aged machines. Such measures will definitely
improve our competitiveness in the market and enable the Group to
provide more value-adds to our customers in long run. As a result, the
Group will not be heavily involved in the price war in the rental market. We
would continue to be a solution-provider. During FY2020, the Group has
acquired AP Shanghai on 20 September 2019, which provides a way for the
Group to penetrate into the PRC market despite the fact that its result was
greatly affected by the outbreak of COVID-19. A minor net loss of
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

For FY2020, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$145.8
million, representing a decrease of approximately 0.2% as compared to
that of approximately HK$146.1 million for FY2019. For FY2020, the Group
recorded gross profit of approximately HK$16.1 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 38.5% as compared to that of approximately
HK$26.2 million for FY2019 . The gross profit margin for FY2020 was
approximately 11.0% (FY2019: approximately 17.9%), representing a
decrease of approximately 38.5% as compared to that for FY2019. Please
refer to the section headed “Financial Review” of this report for further
details of the Group’s performance in FY2020.

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company increased by
approximately HK$17.2 million from approximately HK$2.5 million in
FY2019 to approximately HK$19.7 million in FY2020.

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company for FY2020 was
approximately HK2.28 cents (FY2019: approximately HK0.29 cent).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY2020, the overall market sentiment of the construction industry is
not good after the completion of certain key projects, namely, the Express
Rail and the HKZMB. In the meantime, the Group is also affected by the
delay in the progress of the Third Runway in the first half of FY2020.
However, we have increased our involvement in other key projects, namely
Central Kowloon Route and the Kai Tak Sports Park. In the second half of
FY2020, the demands from the Third Runway began to pick up.
Nevertheless, the demand on construction equipment was overall still
weak and price competition is intensive due to the continuous trade war
between the US and PRC and the social unrest in Hong Kong. The
pandemic has significantly affected firstly the economy of PRC and later
globally. In Macau, the overall demand on construction equipment
remained weak after the completion of some major casino projects in early
2019. In Singapore, we have conducted a change in our business model,
which led to lower administrative expenses and an increase in revenues in
FY2020. However, the leasing price in relation to leasing of machines is still
low, which led to gross loss margin of AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. ("AP Singapore”). Thus, there was an increase in revenue and net
loss in AP Singapore has been reduced to approximately SGD0.5 million in
FY2020 (FY2019: approximately SGDO0.7 million). Despite the fact that the
above negative factors have materially hit our business in Hong Kong,
Macau, Singapore and PRC, our continuous investment in advanced
equipment, generators with APS in the SSME, starts to provide some
contributions to our leasing revenue, which has to some degree alleviate
our pressure on price competition, which can prevent a further materially
decline in our gross profit margin. Our machines with SSME have been
widely used in the Kai Tak Sports Park and in the Third Runway projects.
The increasing demand in used construction equipment in Southeast Asian
countries have significantly boosted up our sales in construction
equipment in FY2020. We had disposal proceeds of used construction
equipment in FY2020.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW (Continued)

Lastly, the management of the Company will keep continuous attention on
the situation of the COVID-19, assess and react actively to its impacts on
the financial position and operating results of the Group for the year
ending 31 March 2021.

PROSPECTS

The Hong Kong economy has been deteriorating since April 2019 and was
further affected due to the continuous Trade War between the US and PRC
and then the recent social unrest in Hong Kong. The COVID-19 has led to
the loss of the event business in Hong Kong in the first half of 2020 and
probably even for the whole 2020.

Nevertheless, recently, it was reported by the Hong Kong media that the
material supply for the Third Runway has been improved continuously.
There is continuous progress in the Third Runway. The Group has increased
its leasing of machines for this project since the second half of FY2020. The
Group expects such increase in demand of leasing machines in the Third
Runway project would continue in 2020 since the contractors are trying
their best effort to keep up the original time schedule for the completion
of the Third Runway. Other than the Third Runway, the Group expects to
increase its exposure in terms of machinery sales and leasing business in
2020 in certain key projects in Hong Kong, including the Kai Tak Sports Park
and the Central Kowloon Route. In addition, the Group will continue to
invest in SSME and expects to increase its revenue and profitability in the
near future.

For the machinery trading business, due to the COVID-19, the whole world
has experienced an unprecedented global lockdown of the economy. As
the result, the Group does not expect that we can resume our trading
business and our disposal of our machine overseas before August 2020.
However, the Group would closely monitor any possible chances to
resume our trading business and our disposal of machines overseas once it
is available.

However, the Group expects to benefit from the improved demand from
the aforesaid key projects in Hong Kong in near future. For our business in
Macau, the Group has provided more types of equipment for Macau's
market and we expect that this can gradually improve our performance in
Macau in the long run. For Singapore, due to its coronavirus lockdown
starting from April 2020 (it has just lifted the lockdown in 3 phases from
June 2, 2020). The business of AP Singapore has been affected. The Group
will try its best to pick up the business after the uplifting of the lockdown
fully in Singapore.
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

Lastly, in PRC, after the acquisition of AP Shanghai, the Group has started to
plan for a change of the business model from depending on the leasing
and sale agents of AP Shanghai to using the sale force being employed by
itself starting from year 2020 so that AP Shanghai could earn more profit
and has more control on its business development in the future.
Unfortunately, the COVID-19 has temporarily ceased the progress but the
Group will resume this strategic change in the second half of 2020. The
COVID-19 has also halted its business in February 2020 and affected it badly
in March and April 2020. However, in late May 2020, the PRC government
has released its plans to issue CNY3.75 trillion of special local government
bonds this year, up CNY1.6 trillion from the previous year, with priority
given to new infrastructure, new urbanization initiatives and major projects.
The Group expects that with the continuous investment by the PRC
government on its infrastructure, mainly the construction of projects on
5G, express railway and new urbanization, especially for those to be
implemented in Guangzhou, these will provide great chance for business
growth of AP Shanghai in coming year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For FY2020, the Group recorded a minor decrease in revenue of
approximately HK$0.3 million, with the total revenue amounting to
approximately HK$145.8 million for FY2020, representing a decrease of
approximately 0.2% as compared to that of approximately HK$146.1 million
for FY2019. The minor decrease in revenue mainly resulted from the
decrease of revenues of all segments of business of the Group except the
sales of machinery and spare parts, which has increased tremendously and
has offset most of the decrease of other segments.

(i) Lease of machinery
During FY2020, the Group's rental income from rental services, which
involved the rental of construction, electrical and mechanical
engineering and event and entertainment equipment in Hong Kong,
Macau, PRC and Singapore, decreased to approximately HK$101.7
million compared to that of approximately HK$112.1 million for
FY2019

As mentioned above, the Group’s rental business in Hong Kong and
Macau continued to decline in FY2020 due to the reasons
mentioned in the section headed “Business Review" above.

Rental income of machinery accounted for approximately 69.8% of
the Group's total revenue for FY2020 (FY2019: approximately 76.7%).
The decrease of the above percentage was led by the increase in the
sales of machinery and parts in FY2020.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong Kong by
providing equipment operators to operate the equipment at the job
sites of its customers. For FY2020, revenue from equipment
operating services decreased by approximately 22.2% to
approximately HK$8.4 million (FY2019: approximately HK$10.8
million), and accounted for approximately 5.8% of the Group's total
revenue for FY2020 (FY2019: approximately 7.4%). The decrease in
operating service income for FY2020 was attributable to the
shrinking in demand for operators by sizable construction
companies in Hong Kong upon the completion of various key
projects in Hong Kong and the shift of the Group’s focus due to its
inherent risk in employing and managing of the operators.

Other service income

The Group’s other service income, which arises from rental
arrangements including repair, transportation, maintenance and
technical support services during the rental period, was
approximately HK$8.1 million for FY2020 (FY2019: approximately
HK$12.7 million). The decrease was mainly contributed by the
decrease of the income from transportation, which was
approximately HK$4.7 million for FY2020 (FY2019: approximately
HK$9.2 million). The Group’s other service income accounted for
approximately 5.6% of the Group's total revenue for FY2020 (FY2019
approximately 8.7%).

Sales of machinery and spare parts

The Group is shifting its focus on mainly rental business to more on
machinery trading business (including the disposal of the plant fleet
of the Group) in FY2020. The revenue from sales of machinery and
spare parts increased significantly by approximately 162.9% from
approximately HK$10.5 million in FY2019 to approximately HK$27.6
million for FY2020, which accounted for approximately 18.9% of the
Group's total revenue for FY2020 (FY2019: approximately 7.2%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales amounted to approximately HK$129.7 million for
FY2020, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 8.2%
(FY2019: approximately HK$119.9 million). Cost of sales mainly comprised
machinery hiring expenses, staff costs for the Group’s equipment operators,
technicians and truck drivers, costs for machinery and parts for trading and
depreciation, which together accounted for approximately 87.7% of the
Group's total cost of sales in FY2020 (FY2019: approximately 86.0%).

Among the four major items under cost of sales, Staff costs decreased by
approximately 1.2% due to decrease in the demand for the Group’s
operators by the market and the shift of our business focus as mentioned
before, which led to the decrease in number of operators required. The
external machinery hiring expenses were decreased by approximately
30.2% due to increase the use of the new machine of the Group.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased by approximately
13.2% year-on-year. The increase in total investment in machinery for rental
was greater than the amount of disposed machinery, which led to the net
increase in depreciation. Costs for machinery and parts increased by
approximately 215.2% due to the increase in machinery sale in FY2020.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit decreased by approximately 38.5% from
approximately HK$26.2 million for FY2019 to approximately HK$16
for FY2020 and the Group's gross profit margin recorded a declme to
approximately 11.0% for FY2020 (FY2019: approximately 17.9%). The
decrease in gross profit margin was due to (i) the decrease in rental income
for machines and intensive price competition for both selling and leasing
of machines; (i) an increase in depreciation due to continuous investment
on advanced machines and acquisition of AP Shanghai; and (iii) written off
of the aged construction equipment in the Group’s stock due to the
outbreak of COVID-19

1 million

Other Income

The Group recorded other income amounting to approximately HK$2.5
million in FY2020 (FY2019: approximately HK$4.2 million), which
represented a decrease of approximately 40.5% from FY2019. The decrease
was due to a decrease of an amount of approximately HK$1.7 million in
FY2020 for no commission income was recognised for the provision of
services to KHK in FY2020.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses amounted to approximately HK$5.0 million in
FY2020 (FY2019: approximately HKS$5.3 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 5.7% over FY2019.

Due to the shifting of focus (as mentioned under the paragraph headed
“Sales of machinery and spare part”, a gain on disposal of plant and
equipment of approximately HK$5.4 million was recorded in FY2020
(FY2019: approximately HK$5.3 million). In addition, the Group recorded an
exchange loss of approximately HKS$0.5 million in FY2020 (FY2019:
approximately HK$0.1 million).

Impairment Losses Recognised on Lease Receivables and
Trade Receivables, Net and the impairment loss recognised
on plant and equipment

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19, the Group has recognised the
impairment losses on lease receivables and trade receivables, net of
approximately HK$5.6 million (FY2019: approximately HK$1.2 million) and
the impairment loss on plant and equipment of approximately HK$2.5
million (FY2019: nil).

Administrative Expenses

For FY2020, administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$34.8
million (FY2019: approximately HK$34.9 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 0.3% over FY2019.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For FY2020, selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
HKS$1.2 million (FY2019: approximately HKS$1.4 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 14.3% over FY2019. The decrease in selling and
distribution expenses was mainly due to decrease in carriage outwards
expenses for we used our trucks instead of using our vendors'.

Finance Cost
Finance costs comprised interest on the Group’s borrowings, which
amounted to approximately HK$1.2 million for FY2020 (FY2019:
approximately HK$0.5 million). The increase was attributable to the
addition of new loans for financing the purchase of rental machinery
during FY2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Total Comprehensive Expense for FY2020

The Group recorded loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$19.7 million for FY2020 (FY2019: approximately HK$2.5
million, representing a loss margin of approximately (13.5)% (FY2019
7)%). The increase in loss attributable to owners of the
Company in FY2020 was mainly due to (i) decrease in gross profit due to

approximately (1.

intensive price competition, increase in depreciation, written off of stock
and change in the mix of the revenue lines; (ii) impairment losses
recognised on plant and equipment, lease receivables and trade
receivables due to the COVID-19; and (jii) decrease in other income.

Capital Expenditure

The Group’s capital expenditures in FY2020 primarily comprised
expenditures on machinery and office equipment, amounting to a total of
approximately HK$69.6 million (FY2019: approximately HK$92.5 million).
The vast majority of the capital expenditures were used to fund the
expansion of the Group’s owned rental fleet of machinery, which
accounted for approximately 98.9% of the total capital expenditure for
FY2020.

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations and borrowings. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank
balances and cash equivalents of approximately HK$30.0 million (as at 31
March 2019: approximately HK$51.8 million) that were mainly denominated
in HKD, JPY, MOP, SGD, CNY and USD, and had borrowings of
approximately HK$23.2 million (as at 31 March 2019: approximately
HKS$17.5 million) that were mainly denominated in HKD and USD.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had banking facilities of approximately
HKS$55.7 million (as at 31 March 2019: approximately HK$53.5 million), of
which approximately HK$35.0 million (as at 31 March 2019: approximately
HK$19.1 million) had been drawn down, and approximately HK$20.7
million (as at 31 March 2019: approximately HK$34.4 million) were
unutilised.

As at 31 March 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
10.6% (as at 31 March 2019: nil), which was calculated based on the net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is defined as the sum of the interest
bearing liabilities, which include borrowings, bank overdraft, leases
liabilities, loans from a related Company, and a trade payable carrying on
an interest rate of 3.6% per annum, minus the cash and cash equivalents.

Going forward, the Group expects to fund its future operations and
expansion plans primarily with cash generated from operations and
borrowings.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which are
different from the functional currencies of the Group, namely, Hong Kong
Dollars, and therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk.
Payments made by the Group for the settlement of its purchases from
suppliers are generally denominated in HKD, JPY, SGD, CNY and USD.
Payments received by the Group from its customers are mainly
denominated in HKD, MOP, SGD, CNY and USD.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency movement
and take proactive measures.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (as at
31 March 2019: Nil).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

On 10 May 2019, AP Rentals (China) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement (“Equity Transfer
Agreement”) with Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited to acquire
100% equity interest in Ajax Pong (Shanghai) Limited* (the “Acquisition”), a
company principally engaged in the construction equipment rental
services business in the PRC since 2015. Completion of the Acquisition took
place on 20 September 2019.

Significant Investments

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any significant investments
except the acquisition of AP Shanghai (formerly known as Ajax Pong
(Shanghai) Limited*). The Group completed the acquisition of AP Shanghai
on 20 September 2019. The principal business of AP Shanghai is provision
of the construction equipment rental services in PRC. For further details of
the acquisition and the financial impacts of AP Shanghai, please refer to
the section headed “Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies and Joint Venture” above and note 31 of the notes
to consolidated financial statements below. For the investment strategies
and future prospect of AP Shanghai, the Group is expected to (i) expand its
business and diversify its income streams geographically; and (i) expand its
owned equipment fleet and customer base. The expansion into the PRC
market, through AP Shanghai, will also enable the Group to capitalize on
the national policies of the PRC government to develop the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, which will bring along
macroeconomic momentum and opportunities.

* Foridentification purposes only
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital Commitments and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
HKS$1.0 million (as at 31 March 2019: nil).

After 31 March 2020, the Group entered into an agreement to purchase
machines for rental purpose from KHK ("KHK Purchase”), which was in the
amount of approximately HK$5.5 million. The KHK Purchase will be funded
by the Group's internal resources and the banking facilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2020, deposit placed for a life insurance policy of
approximately HK$2.8 million (as at 31 March 2019: approximately HK$2.7
million), plant and machinery of approximately HK$10.3 million as at 31
March 2020 (as at 31 March 2019: approximately HK$8.7 million), and bank
deposits of approximately HK$0.4 million (as at 31 March 2019:
approximately HK$0.4 million) have been pledged to secure the Group's
borrowings of approximately HK$23.1 million (as at 31 March 2019:
approximately HK$2.5 million).

Human Resources and Employees’ Remuneration

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 120 employees (as at 31 March 2019:
115 employees), of which 112 employees were in Hong Kong (as at 31
March 2019: 106 employees), 4 employees were in Macau (as at 31 March
2019: 4 employees) and 4 employees were in Singapore (as at 31 March
2019: 5 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are determined
with reference to the market information and individual performance and
will be reviewed on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be
reviewed by the Board from time to time. In addition to basic
remuneration, the Group also provides medical insurance, makes
contributions to provident funds and provides other benefits to the
employees. The total staff cost including remuneration, other benefits and
contributions to retirement schemes for the directors of the Company and
other staff of the Group for FY2020 amounted to approximately HK$41.4
million (FY2019: approximately HK$42.1 million). The decrease in staff cost
was mainly due to the decrease in headcount of operators due to decrease
of the demand of the market on operators.

The Group's technical staff attend seminars jointly conducted by
manufacturers and the Group to acquire product knowledge to ensure
they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform
their duties. Such seminars include training regarding the equipment
structures, operational features, operator safety training and equipment
repair. In addition to the training jointly conducted by manufacturers and
the Group, the Group's technical staff also attend external training courses
and obtain relevant certificates.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Revenue Wiz
Leasing income of Repizt: 2 N
machinery
Sales of machinery and R B E
parts
Operating service income R RS
Other service income H At RFBBA
Gross profit EH
Other income HAb A
Other gains and (losses) Hit ez & (F518)
Impairment loss recognised ERERME - BRX
on property, plant and HEREEE
equipment
Impairment losses recognised  E FEFAME MR & 70E I
on lease receivables and B 5 EWFIERE
trade receivables, net Sisbeitt
(Loss) profit before tax BrBLAT (B518) R F
Income tax credit/(expense) 8RR,/ ()
(Loss) profit for the year REE (EE)&F
Per share data BRER
(Loss) earnings per share B (BE) AT
— basic (HK cents) — ZEAREW)
Financial ratios [ 3n 2
Gross profit margin EFE
Net (loss) profit margin CFEEER)MFIx
Return on total assets BAERRE
Return on equity e EamEpd
Current ratio TENLL
Assets and liabilities EENBE
Total assets BEE
Total liabilities waR
Total equity ks

2020
2020 F
HK$000
FiEx

101,691

27,594
8,388
8,114

145,787

16,090

2,508
4,965

(2,525)

(5,600)

(21,806)
2,127

(19,679)

(2.28)

11.0%
(13.5%)
(5.7%)
(8.9%)

1.28

344,909
(124,154)

220,755

TEMBHRE

For the year ended 31 March
BE3A3IALFE

2019 2018 2017 2016
20194 20185 20176 20165
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
112,086 144383 143,121 171,777
10,549 41,081 17,612 36,957
10,777 25,153 26,512 20,329
12,698 14,644 13,246 10,278
146,110 225,61 200,491 239,341
26,164 57246 46,391 76,328
4193 3,863 4768 2,552
5,250 8,363 1,956 494
(1,181) (12100 N/ATEA NATEA
2382) 26,297 15,283 29,030
(141) (5,216) 3312 (8,107)
(2,523) 21,081 11,971 20923
029) 244 141 204
17.9% 25.4% 23.1% 32.1%
(1.7%) 9.4% 6.0% 8.7%
(0.8%) 6.3% 3.6% 7.5%
(1.0%) 8.6% 5.1% 17.4%
167 222 177 077
332,056 333,666 334,856 279,071
91,511) (87,492) (101,424) (158,579)
240,545 246,174 233,432 120,492




FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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REVENUE (HKS Million) GROSS PROFIT (HKS Million)
3£ [P — [P —
Wi (EEsT) ER(mEET)
239.34 200.49 225.26
250.00 8000 oo
14,65 70.00
200.00
13.25 25.15 60.00
2651 146.11 145.79 57.25
41.08
50.00
15000 1761 1270 8.11 4639
1078 839 4000
1055 27.60
100.00
30.00
143.12 14438 2616 1609
11208 10160 2000 '
50.00
10.00
0.00 0.00
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
20164 20174 20184F 201948 20205 20164F 20174F 20184 20194 20204
[ | Leasing income of machinery B sales of machinery and parts
AR A W R THHE
. Operating service income . Other service income
RIS WA At ARTSBA
(LOSS) PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE
(HKS Million) (HK cents)
-4\ 3¢ E— == .
BB AES(BE) &R (s B (EE) BRI G501)
50.00 8.00
4000 4219 e
’ 6.00 5.
30.00 5.00
400
20.00 21.08 300
13.08* 244
1000 200 T
1.00
0.00
(252) "y 000 029)
-1.00
-10.00
-2.00
-20.00 -3.00 .29
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 e 2019 o 2019 o o
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
20164 20174 20184F 20194 20205 " * " " a

Underlying profit and total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2017 and year ended 31 March 2016 (‘FY2016") represent
reported profit attributable to owners of the Company before deducting one-off listing expenses of approximately HK$1.11 million for the
year ended 31 March 2017 (FY2016: approximately HK$21.27 million).
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FINANCIAL RATIOS

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN (%)

ML &R

NET (LOSS) PROFIT MARGIN (%)

327 JEELI=ES 3
EFRZE (%) (FEBER)MFIZFR (%)
35.0% 32.1% 25.0%
k 200%  176%"
30.0%
15.0%
. 254% PV 94%
25.0% 23.1% 10.0% " %Sno
5.0%
200% 00% 6.0% :
15.0% %\ o 0% e \
\7 -10.0%
100% 1.0% 1500 * (13.5%)
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
2016%F 20174 20184 20194 2020 20165 20174 20184 20194 20204
RETURN ON TOTAL ASSET (%) RETURN ON EQUITY (%)
s - >Z 5
#E FE B 3RE (%) FEES B3R (%)
30.0% 60.0%
25.0% 50.0%
o
20.0% =T 40.0% 35.0%
15.0% 30.0% A\
10.0% 5% 6.39 17.4% N
’ N 3.9%* 20.0% A
5.0% A\\ 5.6%* 8.6%
3 6% (0.8%) 10.0% S
0.0% = (1.0%)
00% 5.1% )
-5.0% :
i(wv. %)
-10.0% -10.0% %)
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
20164F 20174F 2018%F 2019%F 20205 20165 20175 20185 20195 20205
CURRENT RATIO (%)
FRENEL 2, (%)
25 222
) / S
15
077 / 7 \ 128
10 /
05
00
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
20164 20174 20184 20194 20204
* Underlying profit and total comprehensive income for the FY2017 and FY2016 represent reported profit attributable to owners of the

Company before deducting one-off listing expenses of approximately HK$1.11 million for FY2017 (FY2016: approximately HK$21.27 million).
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The principal activities of the
Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of change in equity on page 84.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2020, distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$90.2 million (as at 2019: approximately HK$109.9
million).

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 180 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (FY2019: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion of
the Group's future business development are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement’ and the "Management Discussion and Analysis” section
on pages 8 to 11 and on pages 12 to 23 of this annual report respectively.
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RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

The equipment rental industry is cyclical in general and its revenues are
tied to general economic conditions and to conditions in the construction
and electrical and mechanical engineering ('E&M" or "E&M engineering”)
industry in particular. Our products and services are used primarily in
construction projects which is cyclical and sensitive to changes in general
economic conditions. Weakness in our end-markets, such as a decline in
construction and E&M engineering activity, may decrease the demand for
the Group’s equipment or the rental rates or prices that the Group can
charge. Factors that may cause weakness in our end-markets include:

(i) global economic recession due to the outbreak of COVID-19 since
January 2020;

(i) increase in the cost of construction materials and labour costs;
(i) the possible increase of Sino-US tensions; and
(iv)  adverse changes in the government infrastructure spending.

Further description of possible capital risks and financial risks facing the
Group are set out in note 29 and note 30 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Foreign Exchange
Risk” on page 22 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the Group's Five Year Financial
Summary and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Financial Review’ on pages 24 to 26 and on pages 17 to 23
of this annual report respectively. Particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended
31 March 2020, if any, can also be found in this section and the above
sections of this annual report and notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment. In terms of environmental friendliness, we have obtained the
Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment (“QPME") identification for most
of our rental equipment to which the QPME system is applicable, and we
have filed application for all our equipment which are subject to the Air
Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation
(Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "NRMM" Regulation), and
have obtained the NRMM label for most of such equipment.

Further details on (i) the Group'’s environmental policies and performance;
and (ii) the Group's compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group will be set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report’.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) will be published within three months after the
publication of the annual report of the Company.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to
its sustainable development. The Group is committed to establishing a
close and caring relationship with its employees, providing quality services
to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners. The
Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our
staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance. The
Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and
development resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of
the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the same
time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

The Group provides a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and
event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The Group maintains good
working relationships between the Group and the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers to
gain insight on the changing market demand for different products so that
the Group can respond proactively.

The Group maintains sound business relationship with its suppliers and
service providers. In order to have better and close monitoring of suppliers’
performance, the Group’s management conducts performance review
regularly targeting the Group's major suppliers and service providers, and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
5 financial years are set out on page 24 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (“Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
No charitable donations were made by the Group during the year (FY2019:
HK$15,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme’) on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to
eligible employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 March 2020, no
share option has been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
(@)  The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) had made or may
make to the Group.

(b)  The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company with the view to achieving the following principal
objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

(c)  For the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, “Eligible
Participant’ means any person who satisfies the eligibility
criteria in paragraph 2 below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
2.  Who may join and basis for determining eligibility

(a)

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of
any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a
company beneficially owned by any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

In order for a person to satisfy the Board that he/she/it is
qualified to be (or, where applicable, continues to qualify to
be) an Eligible Participant, such person shall provide all such
information as the Board may request for the purpose of
assessing his/her/its eligibility (or continuing eligibility).

Each grant of options to a connected person (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), must be approved in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Should the Board resolve that a grantee fails/has failed or
otherwise is/has been unable to meet the continuing
eligibility criteria under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company would (subject to any relevant laws and regulations)
be entitled to deem any outstanding option or part thereof,
granted to such grantee and to the extent not already
exercised, as lapsed, subject to certain requirements (the
details of which are set out in the section headed "Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the prospectus of the
Company dated 24 March 2016 (the “Prospectus”)).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) B AETH 8 (@)
3. Maximum number of shares of the Company (“Shares”) 3. AHBITHNEALITRE (KRG 1) HE

available for issue

(@  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the
said 30% limit being exceeded.

(b)  The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes involving the issue or grant of
options or similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 8 April 2016 (the “Listing
Date”), and such 10% limit represents 86,400,000 Shares.
86,400,000 Shares represents 10% of the total Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to
be granted to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the twelve-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of such grant. Any grant of
further share options above this limit shall be subject to certain
requirements provided under the Listing Rules.

Time of exercise of option

(@) Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant
thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which
is not more than ten years from the date of grant of option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) B IR REST B ()

5. Time of exercise of option (Continued) 5.

(b)  There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets
which must be achieved before an option can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the
time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions
or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion.

6. Consideration for share options and the exercise price 6.

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time on a business day within ten years
commencing on the effective date of the Share Option Scheme to
offer the grant of an option to any Eligible Participant as the Board
may in its absolute discretion select in accordance with the eligibility
criteria set out in the Share Option Scheme. An offer shall be
accepted when the Company receives the duly signed offer letter
together with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other
sum in any currency as the Board may determine).

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business
day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share
as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant. The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments
(the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Options may be granted to Eligible Participants under the Share
Option Scheme during the period of ten years commencing on the
effective date of the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately five years and nine months
as at the date of this annual report.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages IV-12 to IV-22 in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group's five largest customers are as follows:

The largest customer 8.2%
The five largest customers in aggregate 24.8%

The percentages of total purchases (defined as the sum of (i) the Group’s
total cost of sales less staff cost and depreciation and (ii) purchases of the
Group's owned rental equipment) for the year attributable to the Group's
major suppliers are as follows:

38.1%
75.7%

The largest supplier
The five largest suppliers in aggregate

At no time during the year did the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital,
have any interest in any of the Group's five largest customers and suppliers
except that Kanamoto (HK) Co,, Ltd., which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Kanamoto Co., Limited, a company holding approximately 7.5% of the
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual report. Kanamoto (HK)
Co., Ltd. contributed to the supply of approximately 38.1% of total
purchases of the Group and is one of the Group’'s five largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)
Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Non-executive Director
Nakazawa Tomokatsu

Independent non-executive Directors
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond

Siu Chak Yu

Li Ping Chi

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

By virtue of Article 84 of the Articles, 2 Directors, namely Ms. Chan Kit Mui,
Lina and Li Ping Chi, will retire from office at the 2020 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 62 to 72 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Future Ordinance (the "SFO")), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the directors
and chief executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) are as follows:
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Approximate

Percentage of
Number of Total Issued
Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares Shares (%)
HERITROEH
EEpE s RGBEE BB DL (%)
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Note 1, 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
I e (MHEET -~ 2) R LB R
Interest of spouse 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
B R
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (Note 3, 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
B2 22+ (753 - 4) R EE R
Interest of spouse 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continued)

Note 1:  The Company was directly owned as to 42.08% by New Club House
International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House"). By virtue of his 100%
shareholding in New Club House, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau”") is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by New Club
House.

Note 2:  Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (“Ms. Chan"). Under the
SFO, Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Ms. Chan is interested.

Note 3:  The Company was directly owned as to 32.92% by Great Club House
Holdings Limited (“Great Club House"). By virtue of her 100%
shareholding in Great Club House, Ms. Chan is deemed to be interested in
the same number of Shares held by Great Club House.

Note 4:  Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lau is interested.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2020, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company, which
are required to be disclosed under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

DIRECTORS” REPORT
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M20206F3A31H  BESHAM - U TAT(K
REEEXERITHRABRIN AESBEERA
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Approximate
Percentage of
Total Number the Issued
Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest of Shares Held Share Capital
HERITRE
BEREE EEME iR BAEDE
New Club House' (Note 1) Beneficial interest 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
New Club House' (F5E1) EmiEn
Great Club House? (Note 2) Beneficial interest 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
Great Club House? (Ff3¥2) oy 2l
Kanamoto Japan® (Note 3) Beneficial interest 64,800,648 (L) 7.50%
B (FFEE3) EmEn
Note 1: It is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. It is a controlling L= HAYPHEEEELEEE HABAAR
shareholder holding 363,528,000 shares of the Company. 72 7] 363,528,000 A& A% 17 A9 #Z AR AR IR ©
Note 2: It is directly wholly-owned by Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina. It is a controlling  Bt3¥2: HHARZELLEHEL2EHEE HABAEX
shareholder holding 284,471,352 shares of the Company. A R) 284,471,352 BRAG 1D ROFE AR AR R ©
Note 3:  Itis a shareholder holding 64,800,648 shares of the Company. MizE3 :  HAFAARAD R 64,800,648 A A% HIILER -
(L) Long position Ln: wHE

! “New Club House": New Club House International Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8
June 2015.

2 “Great Club House": Great Club House Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8 June 2015.

3 "Kanamoto Japan’: Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (£ =, £ %&£ 77 7 £ I), a company
incorporated in Japan on 24 September 1937.

! [New Club House | : New Club House International
Holdings Limited * 720154 6 A 8 B £ 2 & & 22 Bt
SEMKIHERETRT

? [ Great Club House] : Great Club House Holdings
Limited * 720156 A8 HE R B R Z B &
A BREERTA

3 [€Z B 7 ]| : Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (kX &4 5
) 193749 A24 BIE A A A I B AR o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors were not aware
of any other corporation or individual (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or a short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 164 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides, among
other things, that the Directors and other officers shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses as a result
of any act or failure to act in carrying out his/her functions. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section headed “Share Option Scheme” disclosed above,
at no time during the year, the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements which would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or its subsidiaries. Save as disclosed in this
report, none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the
age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares or debentures
of the Company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such right during
the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2020, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of the Directors and their respective associates that had competed
or might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interests which any such person had or might have with the Group
except those disclosed under the section headed “Non-Competition
Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders”.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed a total of 120 employees. For
the year ended 31 March 2020, the staff costs of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$41.4 million.

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature.

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to eligible employees.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has established a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme’) for its Hong Kong employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately in funds which are under the control of independent trustees.
The retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5%
of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at HK$30,000
per month.

The total costs charged to loss for the year of approximately HKS$ 1,474,000
(FY2019: approximately HK$1,549,000), comprised approximately HK$72,000
and HK$1,402,000 (FY2019: approximately HK$72,000 and HK$1,477,000) in
directors’ emoluments and other staff costs respectively, and represented
contributions paid or payable to the schemes by the Group in respect of the
current accounting period. At the end of the reporting period, there were no
forfeited contributions available to reduce future obligations.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non- executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director or Controlling Shareholders of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2020 or
during the year.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM IPO

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since 8 April 2016. The net proceeds from IPO of the Company
(after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) were
approximately HK$81.8 million. The following table sets forth the status of
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the use of proceeds from IPO as at 31 March 2020: RER
Net proceeds Utilisedupto  Unutilised as at
from IPO 31 March 2020 31 March 2020
EZ2020F 2020 F
PN L 4 3A318L 38318
FBREFE EEARIE KREVARIE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Investment in rental equipment HAEREBERE 58,242 58,242 -
Development of GPS equipment BREFHEELRE
monitoring system BERALG 8,507 3,627 4,880
Investment in transportation BRI
equipment 5,808 4,039 1,769
Improvement of facility RALERERE
for maintenance of the =R
Group's equipment 3,517 802 2,715
General working capital —REEES 5,726 5,726 -
81,800 72,436 9,364

The unutilised amounts of the net proceeds from IPO will be applied in
such manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After 31 March 2020, the Group entered into an agreement to purchase
machines for rental purpose from KHK, which was in the amount of
approximately HKS$5.5 million. The KHK Purchase will be funded by the
Group's internal resources and the banking facilities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
conducted in the ordinary course of business are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

None of the related party transactions set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions, or they constituted connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions but were exempted from
all disclosure and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

DIVIDEND POLICY
On 29 January 2019, the dividend policy was approved by the Board with
details as set out below.

Provided that the Group is profitable and without affecting the normal
operations of the Group, the Company may consider to declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account various factors
including but not limited to, (i) the cashflow of the Group, whether it is
adequate for the Group to operate its daily operation; (ii) capital
requirements of the Group; (iii) operating results and performance of the
Group; (iv) the indebtedness of the Group; (v) the economic outlook; (vi)
the compliance of any signed financial covenants of the Group; and (vii)
the future prospects of the Group, as well as the interests of the
Shareholders.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company are also subject to
the laws of the Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including but not limited to the Listing Rules).

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance that a dividend will
be proposed or declared in any specific period.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 21 August 2020
to 26 August 2020 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2020 AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong,
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 August 2020.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2020 AGM.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

By order of the Board

LAU Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed in achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results and
improve its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has engaged an
international consulting firm (the “Consultant”) to review and recommend
appropriate actions so as to ensure that the Company is complying with
the requirement of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in relation to
internal controls. A review on the Company’s corporate governance
practices was conducted by the Consultant for FY2020, and the Company
has been improving its corporate governance practices continuously with
reference to the Consultant’'s recommendations. Moreover, the Company
has adopted its corporate governance practices which are reproduced
from the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules ("CG Code"), save and except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company are both performed by Mr. Lau Pong
Sing. The Board believes that vesting of the roles of both chairman and
chief executive officer in the same individual provides the Company with
strong and consistent leadership, efficient usage of resources and allows
for effective planning, formulation and implementation of the Company’s
business strategies, which will enable the Company to sustain the
development of its business efficiently.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted The Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the directors of the Company. The Company has made specific
enquiries to all directors of the Company regarding any non-compliance
with the Model Code.

All the directors of the Company confirmed that they have fully complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AND DELEGATION BY THE
BOARD

The Board provides leadership and guidance to the Group's activities and is
responsible for formulating the overall strategies and determining the
direction of future development of the Group. The Board oversees the
Group's operation and financial performance. The Board has delegated its
powers to the management for the Group’s daily management and
operations.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Currently, the Board comprises two executive Directors, one non- executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. Since there are
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents more than one-third of the Board. As such, there exists a strong
independent element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Board comprises the following Directors:
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2IFBAX ) (Chairman; Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (BR218) (Chief Operating Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (32 % 52.)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({r]§&%x)

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (FE'25)

Mr. Li Ping Chi (ZE/A5)

The Chairman and executive Director, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, is the spouse of
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, an executive Director. The executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, are interested in the
shares of the Company through their interest in New Club House
International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House") and Great Club House
Holdings Limited ("Great Club House") respectively (for details, please
refer to the Prospectus). Instances of actual or potential conflict have been
identified and minimised. Please refer to the “Directors and Senior
Management’, ‘Directors’ Report — Directors’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and
"Directors’ Report — Related Party Transactions’ on pages 62 to 72,
pages 37 to 40 and page 44 in this annual report respectively for more
details. Save as disclosed above, the Directors have no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one another
as at the date of this annual report.

Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors

Coming from diverse business and professional backgrounds, the non-
executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company have shared their valuable experiences to the Board for
promoting the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
non-executive Director and all of the independent non-executive Directors
are appointed under an initial term of three years and are also subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Directors, a written confirmation of his independence to the Company
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary induction,
training and information to ensure that he/she has proper understanding
of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations prior to his/her appointment. The Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development courses
and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company will continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular
seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, all Directors have attended training
in connection with their responsibilities as a director of the Company, and
the attendance of each of the Directors is set out in the table below:
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Name of Director Attendance

BEEHA HE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITES

Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2 FBAK) 2UFBK k& v/
(Chairman; Chief Executive Officer) (F/E : 7T AA%L)

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (R2#5) PRZMg 2+ v
(Chief Operating Officer) (BEEE)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (2 & 52,) FRIER A v

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BAFHITES

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (fa]$&3%) A[ERE L+ TI2AM v

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (F8/2F) BEFLE v

Mr. Li Ping Chi (EfRE) FIRELAE v

X Not attended v Attended

X REHLE v BHE
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company on 17 March 2016 for an initial term of three years
commencing from 8 April 2016, and may be terminated pursuant to the
respective terms of the service agreements. Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu, a
non-executive Director, entered into a letter of appointment dated 14
December 2018 with the Company for an initial term of three years, and
may be terminated pursuant to the terms of the letter of appointment.

In April 2019, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company with no fixed term but may be terminated
pursuant to the respective terms of the service agreement (including the
termination by 3 months’ prior notice in writing by either party to the
service agreement). The basic directors’ emoluments for Mr. Lau Pong Sing
and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina are HK$2,808,000 for 12 months and
HK$2,304,000 for 12 months, respectively. In addition, each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Ping Chi, Mr. Siu Chak
Yu and Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years and may
be terminated pursuant to the respective terms of the letters of
appointment. Each of Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi, is entitled to a
remuneration in the sum of HK$21,000 per month. Mr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, is entitled to a remuneration in the sum of HK$52,500 per
month.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
the Directors are governed by the Articles. Article 83(3) of the Articles
provides that any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in
the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company ("“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to, but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as
necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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At the last AGM held on Thursday, 29 August 2019, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Mr.
Nakazawa Tomokatsu and Mr. Siu Chak Yu have retired. Both of them have
been re-elected as Directors of the Company at the last AGM.

BOARD MEETING

Pursuant to the CG Code provision A.1.1, the Board should meet regularly
and board meetings should be held at least four times a year. The Board
meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategies as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate in Board meetings either in person or through electronic means
of communications.

If a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the Director shall
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 9 Board meetings were held and 2
general meetings of the Company were held. Set out below are details of
the attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, committee
meetings and general meetings held during the year ended 31 March
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hE/BTEE
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES
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THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

An AGM is an important forum in which the management of the Company
can communicate with the shareholders. The last AGM was held on 29
August 2019 and the upcoming AGM will be held on 26 August 2020.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (collectively the "“Board
Committees’). The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance with
their respective terms of reference which are available to shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph C.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee comprises three
members, all being independent non- executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi (Chairman).

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, reviewing the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting and overseeing the internal control
procedures of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 9 meetings of the Audit Committee
were held to make recommendations to the Board as follows: (i) on the re-
appointment of the auditor and to approve the engagement letter of the
auditor; and (ii) advise the Board to engage the Consultant to provide
advisory services about the internal controls system for FY2020. The Audit
Committee also reviewed reports on continuing connected transactions
every six months.
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On 15 June 2020, a meeting was held to review the Company’s continuing
connected transactions. On 29 June 2020, a meeting was held to review
the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
Audit Committee is of the opinion that the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 complied with the applicable
accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee oversees the corporate governance functions of the
Company. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to
corporate governance functions are set out in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee. Upon the listing of the Company, the Audit Committee
appointed the Consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The
review covered the Company's terms of reference of board committees,
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior management
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. The Consultant has
provided certain recommendations on improving the Company’s
corporate governance practices, which the Company has adopted
accordingly to ensure sound corporate governance practices.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprises three members, being
one executive Director, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li
Ping Chi. Accordingly, a majority of the members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 1T meeting of the Nomination
Committee was held to review composition of board members.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, being one executive Director,
namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu (Chairman) and Mr. Li Ping Chi. Accordingly, a
majority of the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and
on the establishment of a set of formal and transparent procedures for
developing policies on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing and approving
the management'’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives; and (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and members
of senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 2 meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held (i) to review the remuneration package of the
individual executive Directors, individual independence non-executive
Directors and senior management and the staff of the Group and to make
recommendations to the Board on such remuneration packages.

FMEES

HFMEZE @R 2016F3 178K - WRE ET

RAIE 326 IR R EERTRIE B REITH AL

EEBESE - FMEESSH="RXEEKX &
P—EBARRTES (BNRIBRTE) RMEAET
FRTEEAIREFAE(ER)RFERE
F) e Bt REBBRBIIFNITES -

FHEZEENIERBEETEEOREREER

BREEE - IHFHNBRRERBARISIESR
BAHMOBRR L - EEARBANEFAES
“%VEHHE%?% CIHRBEEENERARLTR

P LE R R IR TR AL ¢ R i)
Eﬁiﬂf?é%&m&%@ﬁkaﬂ’] TN RAES
SELHEEER -

Eé%i%ézozo$3ﬂ MNHIEFE  FHEEegHR

TR EE LOEBEBBITES - @B

3F$ﬂﬁ§$ =T &EEJ‘&ZKE@EIE’] SN
WHEBHFH T RMESSEH#BEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Company then in office by
band for the year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:
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Number of individuals A

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
FEN 4R Bl N -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 87T 3
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 8 7T Z 3,000,000 % 7T 2
Total et 5

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March
2020 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER COMMITTEES

A Risk Management Committee under the management of the Company
has been established. The Risk Management Committee comprises three
members, being two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, and one senior staff member of the Company,
namely Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The primary responsibilities of the Risk
Management Committee are to deliberate risk management related
policies and procedures, review the effectiveness of risk management
activities and handle issues of emergency.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 1 meeting was held to review the
risks of the Company due to the outbreak of the COVID-19. The Group has
then implemented a series of policies to protect the staff, including
working from home and provision of necessary sanitizing products.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has a board diversity policy (which was revised on 29 January
2019). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional
qualifications, industry and regional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

1.

Purpose and objectives
On 29 January 2019, the director nomination policy (the “Policy”)
was approved by the Board with details as set out below:

1.1 The Policy sets out the procedures and criteria to be adopted
by the Nomination Committee of the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and reappointment of the
Directors.

1.2 The Policy aims at ensuring that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.

Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors
("Selection Criteria”) when nominating potential candidates for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors:

whether the individual’s educational background and
qualification, skills and experience are relevant to the
Company's business model and specific needs;

the individual's character and reputation for integrity;

whether the individual would be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

(in respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors) independence of the
individual with reference to the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

how the individual would be able to contribute to the diversity
of the Board with reference to the factors set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company from time to time in force;
and

Board succession planning considerations.
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3. Procedures and process for nomination of Directors
3.1 The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy such
channel(s) for identifying suitable director candidates as it
deems appropriate, including but not limited to referrals from
existing Directors, Shareholders, advisers and third party
agency firms and advertisements.

3.2 The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the potential
candidates, such as interviews, background checks and third
party reference checks, and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals to be nominated
for directorships based on the Selection Criteria.

3.3 The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment
of Directors shall rest with the Board.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, New Club House and Great Club
House (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”), have entered into a
deed of non-competition dated 18 March 2016 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) with the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company have irrevocably undertaken to the
Company that he/she/it would not, and would procure that his/her/its
close associates (except any members of the Group) would not, during the
restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, among
other things, carry on, participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire
or hold (in each case whether as shareholder, director, partner, agent,
employee or otherwise, and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business which is or may be in competition with the business currently
carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the Group
(save and except for certain residual contracts of which shall be terminated
upon their respective expiry dates (the details of which are set out in the
Prospectus)). Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The Company entered into the supplemental deed on 10 May
2019 ("Supplemental Deed’) with the Controlling Shareholders to amend
the Deed of Non-competition. Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, the
geographic coverage under the definition of “Restricted Business” (as
defined in the Deed of Non-competition) and the undertaking given by the
Controlling Shareholders will be expanded to include the PRC. The details
of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019,
respectively.

AL Asfe N +
PEE RS

3. REESENEFKER
31 EFENRARBCERAEERAREE
MIBEATEREREEYESENE

EANE BEETRIAHREES -
R BEARE=FREBARKE
SREN

32 RAMEBAEREANGENR 2%
ZEEREAERSEENERF - fl
nEH - BERBEERE=ZSTERE
%o WIRBEERSE  BUERRET
EERUMNABIAEBEAERS
MR EE

33 HERZIEFNERECTHESTS

BERBRRN T HF RS

2 IR %t £ BRIR M 22 £~ New Club House &
Great Club House (#4578 [ ARER ) B EHAR AE]
ST HHIA2016F3 18BN THFRE ([ THS
2RI AR RS IR AR BN AR M R AR
NAEH  RIZBRHBEA - BT RELR
THBA (KEBTMKERARIBRIN TEHITR
HESAKREMAL  BERAR - EEREE
(e i#E1T 2HESEAED I B
IR BE(THRELTURE  EE - 4BA KB
BESKEME S M AmAGF - Bk E MR
E) R Ak AT se ¥ AR B (A B A A B Al
Frit BN E R EB B R F M ERS (fF
REZEEERBHRLENETHRTEORINE
HBHRNBRER))  c BETHFRIENFIEH
RIBRERR[EERBRRNER] —&5 - AQF
ER201965 A 10 A BT AR AT U m R4 ([
ZRE])  DUSFT BRI RIE - BIEMHITRIE
[ZREEE] (EERTHFRE)ERETHIRE
B MRS RN AL GEEAZEREPEH - <
ZHFFBD RN AR B A 2019F5 4101
HAERARNFBEA2019F6 A3 BB -

[ENA- 21 Rz ARz 04 T

BeE 000 -



g

+ Annual Report 2020

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

/\_LI_/\—/-\— N

PEEIAME

The Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations thereunder are
conditional upon (i) the independent shareholders of the Company having
approved the Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations
thereunder at a general meeting of the Company as required by and in
accordance with the Listing Rules; and (ii) the completion of the
transactions contemplated under the Equity Transfer Agreement. The
Supplemental Deed and the transactions contemplated thereunder were
approved at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 25 June
2019. Completion of the Acquisition took place on 20 September 2019.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided confirmation(s) in
respect of compliance with his/her/its undertaking (i) under the Deed of
Non-competition dated 18 March 2016 during the period from 1 April 2019
to 19 September 2019; and (ii) under the Deed of Non-competition (as
amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Deed) during the
period from 20 September 2019 to 31 March 2020.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders of the terms of the
Deed of Non-competition (and in the case of the period from 20
September 2019 to 31 March 2020, the Deed of Non-competition (as
amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Deed)) and were
satisfied that each of the Controlling Shareholders has complied with his/
her/its undertaking during the year ended 31 March 2020.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remunerations paid or payable to
the external auditors in respect of its audit services and non-audit services
provided to the Group were approximately HK$1.9 million and HK$0.6
million, respectively. The non-audit services consist of taxation, internal
control advice and other services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 73 to &0.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. The Board of Directors determines the nature and extent of
risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and
has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Committee
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a
set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control system. The internal controls are designed to
meet the Group's particular needs and to minimise the risks to which the
Group is exposed, and are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risks to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, the Company engaged the Consultant to review the
effectiveness of certain of the Group's internal controls system. Deficiencies
in the design and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board of
Directors on a timely basis to ensure prompt remedial actions are taken.
Results of internal controls review are reported to the Audit Committee
and the Board at least once a year. During the year under review, the
Consultant has issued the internal controls report (“IC Report’) to the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Board has adopted the advice made
in the IC Report and has continuously improving its corporate governance
practices with reference to the Consultant’s recommendations.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective and
have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk management and
internal control throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the
necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary’) is performed by Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating the Board's processes and communications
among Board members, shareholders and the management of the
Company. The Company Secretary undertakes at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training annually to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communications between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board.
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SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary at the head office of the
Company in Hong Kong, which is presently situated at Unit 806A, 8th Floor,
Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75, Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. If
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY
SHAREHOLDERS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are set
out above in the paragraph headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting'.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted, on 17 March 2016, the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company which took
effect from 8 April 2016. There was no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2020.

By order of the Board

Lau Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
29 June 2020
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFhARRERE

OVERVIEW ME
The table below contains certain information about our Directors and ~ N&RHIIETEHREELRSREBBENER
senior management.
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age  Position the Group position in the Group
EBZERABL
HE Fie B MAKEE K A B RESENRE
Mr. Lau Pong Sing 63 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Our overall management
(BIFB5K) Chairman; Chief and business development;
executive officer setting business strategies,
direction and goals
BIFEmELE 63 HTEEEFE: 2004F12A2A 2015F6A11H AMMBREEREBER
TH#EE HIEEBRE - HAR
BiR
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina 62 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Overseeing our
(RZ16) Chief operating administration, financial
officer control and human
resources
REER L 62 HTEF: 2Ef 200412 AN A 2015F6A11H BRI - M5
RANER
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu 47 Non-executive 14 December 2018 14 December 2018 Supervising the management
(PERR) Director of the Company
FERREE 47 FHTES 018128148 018F 12148 EEARTNER
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, 81 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
Raymond (f$2%R) Non-executive of the Company
Director
{AIERE LTIk 81 BAUFRITESR 016F3R17H 016%F3R17H EEAARNER
Mr. Siu Chak Yu 59 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(FETF) Non-executive of the Company
Director
BETEE 59 BUMTES 016F3A17H 016F3A17H EERRRNER
Mr. Li Ping Chi 60 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(ERF) Non-executive of the Company
Director
FRERE 60 BAFRITESR 016F3A17R 01653A17H EERNRAMNER



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR Mé\_NAGEMENT
EsE=ZNMNENEIEE

OVERVIEW (Continued) WE @
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age  Position the Group position in the Group
EZERARA
®E Fike B MAREE A H # B REKENRE
Mr. Shinji Mitsuya 66 Director of 3 March 2017 3 March 2017 Oversee the operations
(=XfE2) AP Singapore business in AP Singapore,
a subsidiary of the
Company in Singapore
“RfEZEAE 66 AP Singapore & % 20173838 20173 83H EBAA AR INEA
f /8 /2 &1 AP Singapore
HEBLE
Mr. Lau Tsz Fung 34 Vice president — 1 April 2009 1 April 2014 Overseeing our sales and
(81F48) sales and marketing marketing affairs
BlFaEHs 34 BlEH (HEREH) 200964818 2014F4A18 EERMNHEEREHED
Mr. Wong Cheuk Man 54 Financial controller 1 January 2010 1 January 2010 Overseeing our financial
(EE8) management and company
secretarial matters
gL 54 Bk 20106118 201061818 EERANMBERR
NAMESEH
Notes: 5T
(1) Mr. Lauis the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau. (1) 2 E BRI BRI TFEREENLE -
(2)  Ms.Chanis the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau. Q) BMEZLARIAXEMNREBRETHELENTR -
(3)  Mr.LauTsz Fung (“Mr. TF Lau’) is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan. ?3) 27 A ([BlFEE ) BRIGTENRRLZ LT
ZF e
(4)  Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is an employee of Kanamoto HK and Kanamoto ~ (4) HEAREERTABTEREABAENES - 1
Japan, and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 14 2018F 12 A 14BEZEARNRRENTES -
December 2018.

The business address of our Directors and senior management is Unit 806A, EFERRAEEREMNEBGIDIL AEBNEEE
8th Floor, Tower Il, South Seas Centre, No. 75, Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong 75 3% B H /58 — EE 812 806A =
Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREIEE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of six Directors, comprising two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding
our Directors. The functions and duties of the Board include convening
shareholders’ meetings, reporting on the Board’s work at these meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at these meetings, determining
business and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and for the
increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, the Board is
responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Pong Sing 2385

Executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Lau, aged 63, was appointed as our executive Director and Chairman of
the Board on 11 June 2015 and concurrently serves as our chief executive
officer. Mr. Lau is primarily responsible for the Group's overall management
and business development, as well setting our business strategies,
direction and goals. Mr. Lau is also a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Lau is the chairman of our

Nomination Committee.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Mr. Lau had
accumulated over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry through his directorship in and management of Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited from September 1983 to March 1992 and
Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014. Mr. Lau
had in the past managed or oversight various aspects of the Group,
including business development and strategies, financial management and
management of training to be given to our employees. Under the
leadership of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, the Group has entered into strategic
partnership agreements with reputable construction equipment suppliers,
and participated in a number of landmark construction projects.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHAN Kit Mui, Lina 21§

Executive Director and chief operating officer

Ms. Chan, aged 62, has been our executive Director since 11 June 2015 and
also serves as our chief operating officer. She is in charge of the Group's
administration, financial control and human resources.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Ms. Chan has
acquired over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry. She was principally responsible for corporate reorganisation,
business management control, as well as setting up corporate
administration systems and finance systems, during her positions as deputy
managing director of Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited from
April 1989 to March 1992, and deputy managing director of Ajax Pong
(Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014.

Since joining the Group, she has worked closely with Mr. Lau to expand the
Group's business in Hong Kong and Macau and assisted in the set up of our
current operation system and staff welfare scheme.

Ms. Chan obtained a Secretarial Diploma from the Chinese Young Men’s
Christian Association of Hong Kong in May 1978 and an Intermediate Stage
Certificate in Book-keeping from the London Chamber of Commerce and
Industry in Spring 1978. She also completed the Computerized Accounting
System for Commerce and Industry Training Course given by the Hong Kong
Productivity Council in October 1986.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREIEE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu F32X 5

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (FR /2 & 52), aged 47, is the Deputy General
Manager of Overseas Business Division of Kanamoto. He has over 22 years
of relevant working experience in Kanamoto and its subsidiaries (the
“Kanamoto Group”), and is familiar with business operations, overseas
business development plan, and company policy of Kanamoto Group.

He graduated from Tohoku Gakuin University in Japan in 1996 and
obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Economics.

Mr. Nakazawa started to develop his career in construction machinery
business with Kanamoto immediately after his graduation. He was assigned
to Sendai Sales Branch responsible for all-round sales and marketing
activities of rental, leasing and sale of construction machineries and
equipment. He was then promoted to Chief and Deputy Associate Director
of Sendai Sales Branch in 1999 and 2001 respectively.

Since 2002, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to various branches and
divisions accountable for sales and marketing management, business
strategy planning, budget control, customer management and internal
management for construction machinery business of Kanamoto Group. He
was then transferred to Kyokuto Lease Co., Ltd. ("Kyokuto"), a subsidiary of
Kanamoto and was promoted to Managing Director & Sales General
Manager in 2008. His job duties included total management of Kyokuto
from internal management to business development. Since 2014, he has
been Deputy General Manager of Overseas Business Division responsible
for general management of overseas businesses of Kanamoto Group.

Throughout Mr. Nakazawa's long career in Kanamoto Group, he has been
engaging in the full spectrum of general management from business
management to internal management. Through such job duties, he
acquired a clear picture of the business operations, business network and
overseas business development plan. He is familiar with the business trend
of the industry and market trends of construction machinery in Asian
regions.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond A& %

Independent non-executive Director

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, SBS, MBE, S.B. St. J,, JP, aged 81, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 March 2016.
He is a member of our Audit Committee.

Dr. Ho has over 50 years of experience in civil, structural, environmental
and geotechnical engineering industries and has directly managed a
number of mega-sized engineering projects.

Dr. Ho received his degree of doctor of philosophy in Civil Engineering
from the City University of London in June 1971, an Honorary Doctor of
Laws from the University of Manchester in September 2001 and an
Honorary degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 1999. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1963 with a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering and obtained his diploma for advanced studies in engineering,
soil mechanics from the University of Manchester in July 1964.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SE=ZNENEIEE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

As at the date of the annual report, Dr. Ho served or is currently serving as

director of the following listed public companies in Hong Kong:

Period

HimE

Office
B 7%

EE@®

BYFHTES(H)

WERBH - MIEL B LR ERETHEE LD
ARAFMES :

Listed public company on the Stock Exchange
B EMARQT

Since 18 February 2020
B202062 A 18 B

Since September 2018
0 16 June 2020
H2018F 9 AREE
20206 A 16 A Lk

Since December 2013

H2013F 12 A#E

Since September 2007

B 20079 A#E

From June 2005 to
3 June 2019

20056 HZE
201966 A3 H

Since September 1993

B 199349 A

Independent non-executive director

B IEHITES
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

EFEIIFATES

Independent non-executive director
BYIEITES
Independent non-executive director

BIUIFRTESR

Independent non-executive director

BIUFNTES

Independent non-executive director

BUIFRTES

Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263)
EATRERERA R (RHRSE - 2263)

SCUD Group Limited (stock code: 1399)

REREB AR AR (BRDASE : 1399)

ChinLink International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 997)
T e BRI A R A B (BRA 5% - 997)

GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3800)
R EREIRIERAXB IR 22 &) (B A5 + 3800)

China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3311)
hEZERREEAR DR (RO AR 3311)

Deson Development International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 262)

B REREEEGRAR (RN @ 262)
g+ B AT Em RBEE —THINNT

Other current appointments and offices of Dr. Ho are further set out below:

Current appointments and offices

B ATtEds K%

Honorary Chairman (since April 2019) and Chairman (from February 2005 to April
2019) of the Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and Ling Ao Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee
BEREADEZBUNBERZEUERLEEAZTEGR
4 A8 RERE (200592 AZE 201964 )

BT E (820194

Professional advisor to the Office of the Ombudsman of Hong Kong (for the periods
1 July 1995 to 31 March 2013 and 1 October 2015 to present)
EARFHEELAEEEREMO995F7 A1 HE 201363 A31 HEH & 2015
F10R1BES
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chak Yu #)2F

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Siu, BBS, JP, aged 59, was appointed as our independent non- executive
Director on 17 March 2016. He is a member of our Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Siu is the
chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Siu has gained experience in legal practice in Hong Kong. He obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1983 and July 1984, respectively. He
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1986, England and
Wales in June 1990, Australian Capital Territory in February 1991, and in
Singapore in September 1992; and as a barrister in Australia in February
1991. Mr. Siu was appointed as a Notary Public in April 1997, a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer in January 2000, and currently a partner of
Hastings & Co.

He is currently the chairman of the Environmental Impact Assessment
Appeal Board and a board member of the Estates Agents Authority and the
Guardianship Board.
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EENEREIEE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Ping Chi Z/R&

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Li, aged 60, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
n 17 March 2016. He is a member of our Audit Committee, Remuneration

Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Li is the chairman of our Audit

Committee.

Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting and auditing. He was
an assistant assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department from
August 1982 to February 1985. He joined Touche Ross Hong Kong in March
1985 and was promoted to the position of audit manager in August 1989.
He later joined Deloitte China in April 1990 as a result of its merger with
Touche Ross Hong Kong and had been a partner from June 1996 to May
2013.

Mr. Li received a higher diploma in accountancy with distinction from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1982. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management members are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business. None of the members of our
senior management has been a director of a public company the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Mitsuya Shinji = X5 =

Director of AP Singapore

Mr. Mitsuya, aged 66, has been the consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company, AP Rentals Limited, since 1st of January, 2017. In the wake of
establishment of a new company under the Group in Singapore, AP
Singapore, he was appointed and assigned as Director of AP Singapore on
3 March 2017

Mr. Mitsuya's main roles are to launch an equipment rental business in
Singapore capitalizing the Group's experience and know-how as a solution
provider, to develop a new market in the South Pacific Ocean and to
establish a closer relationship and communications with Japanese partners
based on long term strategy.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Prior to joining the Group, he has been in Europe from 2007 to 2012, three
years in Lyon, France and three years in Utrecht, Holland as a general
manager of local company of Furukawa Unic Corporation, establishing new
sales channels in EU countries.

He has been engaged in overseas marketing since early 1980th at
Hokuetsu Industries Co., Ltd., known as Airman air-compressor until 2006.

Having been working for a long time for Japanese construction machinery
manufacturers, he expanded sales opportunities through new dealers
including commencement of local production in the global market. He
obtained Bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from Kanto Gakuin
University in March 1977.

Mr. LAU Tsz Fung (2] F##), aged 34, is our vice president and oversees the
sales and marketing department of the Company. He is principally
responsible for encouraging sustainable development through the delivery
of updated market analysis and information, and works closely with the
sales team in attracting potential customers and contracts. His roles and
duties include maintaining a high volume of rental transactions and good
relationships with worldwide manufacturers and suppliers. Mr. TF Lau has
completed training sessions on construction equipment given by
Donaldson Company, Inc., Nippon Sharyo, Ltd., Furukawa UNIC Corporation
and Denyo Co,, Ltd..

Mr. TF Lau received his Bachelor's degree in Business Economics from the
University of California Santa Barbara in September 2008. Prior to joining
the Group as a sales and marketing officer in April 2009, he was a marketing
officer assistant at Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 2008 to June
2008, where he was responsible for managing relationship with potential
customers and overseas buyers.

Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.
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EENEREIEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. WONG Cheuk Man (E £ 8), aged 54, is the financial controller,
company secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for the Group's accounting, internal
control, financial reporting, resource management and information
technology affairs.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Western Sydney Nepean with a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration in September 1999 and
obtained a Master's degree in International Accounting from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Wong has over 29 years of
experience in accounting. He was an assistant accountant at Sanyo Electric
(Hong Kong) Ltd. from July 1987 to April 1990, cost accountant and later
assistant finance manager of STD Holding Ltd. from August 1990 to
September 1994. He served as accounting manager and subsequently
financial controller of Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from September 1994
prior to joining the Group in January 2010

Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Each of our senior management did not hold any other directorship in
listed public companies in the three years prior to the date of this annual
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED
CRAEEZERARAA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AP Rentals
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 180, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

RV SR e
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

REETEEH
MRETFHERBERMANERAE  RAHERN

PG BERERNBARREENEIR - GL=E
HRAERMETERSEAMBHRRREAZ AR
BITREN - R TSHELERREHEBNE
B

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRES SR EMHWESFNAHBERESSRETEE

Impairment assessment of plant and machinery

BHRREREE

We identified the impairment assessment of plant and Our p

rocedures in relation to management'’s impairment

machinery as a key audit matter due to the significance of the  assessment of plant and machinery included:
carrying value of plant and machinery to the consolidated — Fk it E 12 B B M B R EE TR E T E R T
financial statements as a whole and the judgements associated ~ B#5 :

with the assessment of the recoverable amount of plant and
machinery by the management of the Group. .
ERERRRENREELEEGEEMBREANEE LN
% BEEEEET AN R R EE AT E S BRI E L By H & -
BT R R E R R R R E1E -

As disclosed in the note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying value of plant and machinery reported
under property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2020 was
HK$231,207,000 (2019: HK$216,052,000). An impairment loss of
HK$2,525,000 (2019: nil) has been recognised in the profit or
loss for the current year.

MANATRE B TS RER M S 14PTHRER - 20205F3 A31H » ¥ »
MR N2 5R 8 T PIT 2 SR A % 3R s B9 BR TED 1B /5 231,207,000 78 7T
(20194F : 216,052,000 7T ) © 12,525,000 (2019%4F : &) HIR
BEEXREHERRSFOFEIIEL -

As detailed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the determination of the recoverable amounts of the assets is
based on the higher of:

BANERE B TS R M s 4 Fratalt - B E AR EI & IR ERR
REEFE °

Value in use, based on the estimation on the future
profitability from leasing the assets, future utilisation and
future lease rates; and

ERARREER e NGt EREE  mERE
BEREEENEE  RENEAEX - RAKRNEE

& Al

Fair value less cost of disposal, based on the estimation
on resale values, with reference to the historical disposal
values and cost of disposal, or market transactions.
EREEEEAERNAABREEHERAN - kA
RERELEXNRNUARLEEEE  BEKA @ 50
MR HELE -

Understanding the management’s impairment
assessment process on identifying assets that may be
indicative to be impaired, and evaluating the
reasonableness of the management’s assessment with
reference to the utilisation and income generated from
the plant and machinery in recent years;

ERREIR BN BB e A PR B TR ERN B ER
FHERER B - W2 RTFHEM KR REHERS
REFELERATZEREBELNFEREEEE |
J54

Assessing the reasonableness of the management’s key
assumptions used to estimate the value in use of the
plant and machinery by evaluating the estimated
future income generated from the assets with
reference to the historical utilisation and lease rates,
management’s business plan, or other relevant
information in the industry; and
BBS2EFELEAXNEER ERENEKTE
FITERREMABRAGE R - SR EEEENMGIE
AR ER - AT AT Ak 2R JB PR 2R Ak S A % R A 1
REENEZZMRR - MEaEKT -

Assessing the reasonableness of the fair value less cost
of disposal estimated by the management by checking,
on a sample basis, to the recent disposal values, third
parties’ quotations or transaction prices of similar assets
in the market.
R@MERERETS T RUEENSIREEE
FE=HMEHXRZER  AEEEERTOAR
BEREEEXANSIEMY -
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Key audit matters

RV SR e

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRETER

Impairment assessment of lease receivables and trade
receivables

FEWiE 7R K B 5 Rk R el AP A

We identified impairment assessment of lease receivables and

trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of

lease receivables and trade receivables to the Group’s

consolidated financial position and the involvement of

subjective judgement and management estimates in evaluating

the expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group's lease

receivables and trade receivables at the end of the reporting

period.

ERREEESFEREZREFIEE BEEEERAMBIRLH
BEMLARGE BEXEERREARNERAETERE FE
WHRIENTEREEESE ((AREEEE ) rREBHE R ER

JE At MR RN E IR N B 5 UG IR R E R AR -

REFEE -

As at 31 March 2020, the Group'’s aggregate amounts of lease
receivables and trade receivables amounted to HK$36,479,000
(2019: HKS$39,550,000), and out of which HK$33,258,000 (2019:
HK$31,107,000) were past due.

202063 4318 - BERENEKAEHIARE S EKIE
4 FH /364790007 JT(20194F : 39,550,000 T ) o H H
33,258,000 8 7L 2 1 B (2019 4F : 31,107,000 7T) °

BRNETNMHERETSRETEE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
lease receivables and trade receivables included:

B s U AR & FRIE R 5 FE WK IR (E T 4 T B b Y
HFeE:

Understanding how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for lease receivables and trade
receivables;

B R IR fE AN el fA 5T IR IR AR BRI )R B 5 IR MR
HHEEEBREE

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2020, including
the reasonableness of management’s grouping of lease
receivables and trade receivables into different
categories in the provision matrix, and the basis of
estimated loss rate applied in each category in the
provision matrix (with reference to historical default
rates and forward-looking information);
BREEEEBTN2020F3A31 BHEKEE
FIENRE HRYGIANEEBREGEMANELE
RAE  EEERNBREEBEPSHTREEER
BREGRRFESEETRBARNHAEME - XA
NMERRBERERESRRNEBERENER (2
ZREENXRARIEER)

g
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Key audit matters

BRETER

As disclosed in notes 4 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of lease receivables and trade
receivables based on individual assessment or by means of
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors that have
similar risk exposure, after considering internal credit ratings of
lease receivables and trade receivables, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status and forward-looking information
of respective lease receivables and trade receivables that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. Estimated losses are based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the lease receivables and trade
receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information.
MRS MR 4 R0 EKE X EEEETEEREY
EEEARYIEERIERE 5 RWFIAFTETHER T - &
STERWEHERERE SHRWFEN S HEMEEEESE - M
FEWHR E I8 R B 5 RWGRIB T e iR BB R B [ RT Ak - WEZE
BRYAAEHERE 5 RINFIERN NS ERTR - BRIk - 8%
8RR AR EF BTN ENE RS A #E
SHEBREKEETIARE ZREFIAN S B R A BIRAELE
Bz - AR RURRKR O S BRBERTETHAE - hEtE
BRI RNEERIERE 5 R KFIEN AR F AN BES
RUEELEFERE - WHATEIEEREL A -

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group's lifetime ECL on lease receivables and trade
receivables as at 31 March 2020 amounted to HK$12,315,000
(2019: HK$6,715,000).

WA A IS MR 18 ATHE - EEER2020F3 831 H
WEKHEFRELRESRERFENZBHEHREEEER
12,315,000 47T (2019 4F © 6,715,000 7T) ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRNWESTNMUHERETSRETRE

Checking calculation and basis of default rates adopted
by the management for both individual assessment
and assessment by provision matrix to the underlying
information used by management, on a sample basis,
with reference to the historical settlement analysis of
lease receivables and trade receivables; and
R2ERWEERBERESRRFIAHNBELEE
DI - RS EEER ARG B BRE
FERETTRHAR TR BB RGBT AR E%E
AREREMANMEEER : &

Checking the information used by management for
developing the provision matrix for lease receivables
and trade receivables, including aged analysis as at 31
March 2020, on a sample basis, by comparing individual
items in the analysis with the relevant sales invoices
and other supporting documents.

BB OTPERIER RARHEERREREM
BRANMHETLE  mEREEREERREKES
RIENE HREFIAT ERBERSNABER -

BIER 202043 A31 BRI DI
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

RV SR e
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

RV SR e
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Cheung Chung Yin Lawrence.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

0 N\ 7/

4o A

N H At 2 T W s
pPaN Z N
cEEmMEME fm
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE
2020 2019
2020 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FET FET
Revenue U zs 5
Goods and services B &R 44,096 34,024
Leasing of machineries THE W 101,691 112,086
Total revenue Pl 145,787 146,110
Cost of sales and services $HE M RTE AR AR (129,697) (119,946)
Gross profit EH 16,090 26,164
Other income EaA 2,508 4,193
Other gains and losses Haplezs K EE 7 4,965 5,250
Impairment loss recognised on property, B RERMIEE « HEH K%
plant and equipment R REEE 14 (2,525) -
Impairment losses recognised on B R e W B RIE &
lease receivables and 2 5 EWGRIB R E B8
trade receivables, net JEEE 30 (5,600) (1,181)
Administrative expenses TR (34,845) (34,927)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAYX (1,197) (1,368)
Finance costs BhE A AN 8 (1,202) (513)
Loss before tax MR E 8 (21,806) (2,382)
Income tax credit (expense) FrisfisE e (%) 9 2,127 (141)
Loss for the year RNEFEE 10 (19,679) (2,523)
Other comprehensive expense REFHMBERRX
for the year
Item that may be reclassified HEEF S EEEmEE -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising HME B INETSEE R W =5
on translation of foreign operations (82)
Total comprehensive expense AEFZ TR LB
for the year (19,790) (2,605)
Loss per share S EE
— basic (HK cents) — A (B 13 (0.29)

©
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ARE MR

At 31 March 2020 7202043 A31H

Notes
B aE

Non-current Assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 14
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, — FLUEBEWIEE - #M & 2%

plant and equipment B fHRe 18
Rental deposits HEZRe 18
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy S {REFR 16
Deferred tax assets RIERIIEE B 23
Current Assets REEE
Inventories FE 17
Trade and other receivables, E 5 R HMEWFRIE

deposits and prepayments e RIEMNFKIE 18
Pledged bank deposit BHEARITIFH 19
Bank deposits with original maturity REEE & =18 A LARH

less than three months SRITER 19
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRS 19
Current Liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables and B REMEMTIER

accrued charges FEETE 20
Contract liabilities ERaE 21
Receipts in advance FEUL AR X
Tax liabilities MIBAE
Borrowings — due within one year Bk — —F A 22
Lease liabilities HEBE 25

Net Current Assets

REEEFE

Total Assets less Current Liabilities

REERRBRE

2020
2020 &
HK$’000
FE&T

234,643
7,224

421
650
2,760
123

245,821

37,335
13,233
412
74
23,164
2,907

77,125

21,963

267,784

2019
20194
HK$'000
FET

221,246

2,725
167

224,138

43,577
360

15,000
36,847

107,918

45,391
563
529
643

17,461

64,587

43,331

267,469



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARe MR

At 31 March 2020 7220204 3 A 31 H

2020 2019

2020 F 20194
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
B 7 Fi&xT FET

Non-current Liabilities
Trade payable

Deferred tax liabilities

Loans from a related company
Lease liabilities

FRBEE

B BN R
EEHIARE

KB —HEBRRZER
HERE

20 12,358 =
23 25,901 26,924
24 4,393 =
25 4,377 =

47,029 26,924

220,755 240,545

26 864 864
219,891 239,681

Net Assets EEFRE
Capital and Reserves EAXRRE
Issued capital BETIRA
Reserves &

Total Equity BRER

220,755 240,545

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 180 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020 and are

signed on its behalf by:

LAU PONG SING
BIFAK

Director

EF

HNESI BEEF 180 B 2R MK E 72020
FeAREESSHERBETIE  WH T
BEERREE

CHAN KIT MUI, LINA
RRN

Director

EF

g
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GABSEDE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

Issued Share Merger Legal Translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BRT

BRE ROEE GOfEGE EERGE EIRE KREER st

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THr TArT TExT  THExT  TExT TET TR
(Note i) (Note i)
GEDEN( D

At 1 April 2018 R2018F4A1H 864 232,345 (102,443) 12 (50) 115446 246,174
Loss for the year AEEERE - - = = = (2523) (2523)
Exchange differences arisingon  AEBINERSEE A )

translation of foreign operations (& ¥ =48 = = = = (82) - (82)

Total comprehensive expense ~ AEE R EFXEE

for the year - - - - (82) (2523) (2,605)
Dividend recognised as REDKAIRE

distribution (note 12) (PE12) - - - - - (3024)  (3024)
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3 4318 232,345 (102,443) 109,899 240,545
Loss for the year AEEERE (19,679)  (19,679)
Exchange differences arisingon  $AEBINERS EE A )

translation of foreign operations  [& }{ £%8 (111)

Total comprehensive expense N 2T 7 4858

for the year (111)  (19,679)  (19,790)
At 31 March 2020 202053 A318 232,345  (102,443) (243) 90,220 220,755
Notes: Fi%E
Merger reserve represents the difference between the amount of share . AOREBIERNRRIEBITRA SR RRD RER
capital and share premium of the Company issued, and the issued share AAREER 20157 21 BEAMR R FEFHHE
capital of AP Rentals Limited exchanged in connection with the group EERARIEEHITRAZZHE -

reorganisation on 21 July 2015.

ii. In accordance with Article 377 of the Commercial Code of Macau Special ii. R IBR PR BIAT B & A B 55 377 16 - RAIRPIRE
Administrative Region, the subsidiary registered in Macau is required to B AR 2 B2 K E & & 5t HIfE S AR 25% 895
transfer part of its profits of each accounting period of not less than 25% as FEBELTEHE  ERENESREELR—F

legal reserve, until it reaches an amount equal to half of the capital. K& °



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEHESRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

Operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Impairment loss recognised on property,
plant and equipment

Impairment losses recognised on lease receivables

and trade receivables, net
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Finance costs
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
Write-down of inventories

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Increase in inventories

(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

(Decrease) increase in trade and other
payables and accrued charges

Increase in contract liabilities

Decrease in receipts in advance

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities
Interest received
Increase in deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of
a subsidiary (note 31)

Net cash used in investing activities

2020 2019
2020 & 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&xT FET

Fd—E S

BB AT AR (21,806) (2,382)

BLLATIER EH A% -

ERERZE - &

LEREEE 2,525 -
EREREWHEFIERE S
FEMR IR R B B 18 F ’E 5,600 1,181

Y - IR R REITE 57,246 50,933

FRAEEEINE 1,463 -

[ELEEB N 1,202 513

MEYIZE - M &R E (5,435) (5,348)

F 2 A (243) (423)

EASE 536 =
BEECERHIINEEESRE

41,088 44474
FEEm (13,713) (4,966)
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& RIBAFRIE (L) 5 (2,369) 19,474
E 5 REMEMNIER

FERTE A OB d) 120 (15,165) 9,371
AHAEE N 12,670 125
TEU R BB > (117) (923)
EIBFERSE 22,394 67,555
BRFEH (569) (2,243)
BEEEBESTHE 21,825 65,312
RETE
B UF B 147 327
BT U - &

BRI (421) -
BB - W RERE (50,663) (92,478)
LEWHE - B R BHFTSRIE

21,385 23,500
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W mEFEE (FsE31) (17,000) -
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Financing activities
Interest paid

New borrowings raised
Repayments of borrowings
Repayments of lease liabilities
Repayment of trade payables
Dividend paid

BMEEE
ERFE
IR fE R

BIE G
EEEEAE
BEE SRNHIA
EEE

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

BMEZHARE (TR REFE

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

RERBRESEURD FH

FORERAEEEY

SNERE S 2B > p e

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year ERESRBESEEY

Analysis of the balances of cash REeRREEEYREBRDM
and cash equivalents

Bank deposit with original maturity FREIER &=18 A LARH
less than three months HRITIER

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR R

2020
2020 &
HK$’000
FE&T

(1,115)
46,656
(40,953)
(1,403)

(500)

2,685

(22,042)

51,847

150

29,955

29,955

29,955

2019
20194
HK$'000
FET

15,000
36,847

51,847



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

GENERAL

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as
an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 11 June 2015.
The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 8
April 2016. The addresses of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower Il, South Seas Centre, No. 75, Mody Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

—REBIE
TEBEHEERERQA(ADH DR
015F6cANBREAESEHERARESR
Z+ =& (1961 FE3FED - BiRE RE
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W= FSEM - RRRMRMD B 20165
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RFrl) £ o RA B ER eI =
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands @ £
BB AE B LREEMBE 755k EF
RS —FE 812 806A = ©
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current year.
HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS 17"), and the related
interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date of
initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 April 2019, the
Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1 April 2019.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS
16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical expedients
to leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective lease
contracts, and elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months of the
date of initial application.

On transition, the Group has elected not to recognise any lease
liabilities nor right-of- use assets at 1 April 2019 upon application of
HKFRS 16 as the remaining lease terms of its leases amounting to
HK$ 150,000 which are disposed as operating lease contracts as at 31
March 2019 are ended with twelve months from 1 April 2019

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the Group
is not required to make any adjustment on transition for leases in
which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases in
accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and
comparative information has not been restated.

Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts entered into but
commence after the date of initial application relating to the same
underlying assets under existing lease contracts are accounted as if
the existing leases are modified as at 1 April 2019. The application
has had no impact on the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position at 1 April 2019. However, effective 1 April 2019
lease payments relating to the revised lease term after modification
are recognised as income on straight-line basis over the extended
lease term.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?*
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
lts consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments:

add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The election on whether to apply the
optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-
transaction basis;

clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of
activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs; and

narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers and by
removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is
on or after the annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 April
2020
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material
by including additional guidance and explanations in making
materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

include the concept of “obscuring” material information in
which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 April 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for the deposit placed for a life insurance
policy that is measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment ("HKFRS 2"), leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 16 (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application
of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combination (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS
19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date
(see the accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred. The excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combination (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9") would be accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held
equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined using the first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(ii)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposit, bank deposits with original
maturity less than three months and bank balances) and lease
receivables which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and

lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate

groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance

equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase

in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

3. EREHEBE®E)
ERMITEE)
SREE ()
SEEERE (E)
) EEEBEEEME)

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, there is
a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, except for those
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, there is rebuttable presumption that
default does not occur later than when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16
(since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (prior to 1 April 2019).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped with
reference to the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;
Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of lease receivables and trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, borrowings
and loans from a related company) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation
(including repair and maintenance services, installation services and
delivery services), the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group's performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly)
provides the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties
to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual

value guarantees; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding

adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

BENRERE

BlE R (BIEEE M B E N R)
WA ERAERSE

AEEREHENORNBEEERS
Bk

RITHENE RS WEAEHRER
REBITEA SRR -

RFEMBEHE  HERERENSERK
MENRIEL AR -

MERATER  AEEEHTEEER
& (RE AR EBEEEFLARRR)

HMBMEERITER R R EEN
BEARE FUBERT  HEEE
BEEBEAERNGE R BOLER
FRERFRGETEEN KM BT

=
== °

HENREETTSHESHAERMS
HeBXSHMHOREE  FUER
T HEEEEEEBERAGITR
RFRLETHENKMEHE ©

AEERGEVBRAARAKEEAES
S BEREIAR -

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T

B 000 -



+ Annual Report 2020

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E

SN E R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible
temporary differences.

3.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, including
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF” Scheme) and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets within the next
financial year including the expected rentals generated of the plant
and machinery less than its carrying value of remaining useful life.
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4.,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of plant and machinery

The Group’s major operating assets are plant and machinery
included in property, plant and equipment. Management performs
review for impairment of these plant and machinery whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
values may not be recovered.

The recoverable amounts of the plant and machinery are
determined based on the higher of value in use calculations and fair
value less cost of disposal. The Group uses fair value less cost of
disposal as the recoverable amounts which requires the
management to estimate the resale values with reference to the
historical disposal values, or market transactions of similar assets.
Where the actual cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
facts and circumstances result in reduction of estimated cash flows,
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying
amounts of plant and machinery are HK$231,207,000 (2019:
HK$216,052,000), after taking into account the impairment losses of
HK$2,525,000 (2019: nil) in respect of plant and machinery that have
been recognised respectively. Details of the impairment of plant and
machinery are disclosed in note 14.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and lease
receivables

Certain of trade receivables and lease receivables are assessed for
ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the remaining trade receivables and lease
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

At 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables and
lease receivables are HK$4,483,000 (2019: HK$1,835,000) and
HK$31,996,000 (2019: HK$37,715,000), net of allowance for credit loss
of HK$678,000 (2019: HK$191,000) and HK$11,637,000 (2019:
HK$6,524,000) respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables and lease receivables are disclosed in note
30.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B SRR N At

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkoBER
(a) Revenue (@ W=
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) FEFEHNWRZNAIE
customers

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BZ2020F3 AN RLFE
Lease
Sales of related  Repairand

machinery  operating maintenance Delivery Installation

and parts services service service service Total
#uk RESEH #EER
DHEE NBRERE RERE  RERE  RERE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TR TR TR

Geographical markets 5
Hong Kong Bk 27,555 7,430 42,723
Macau AP 24 - 381
Other Hity 15 958 992

Total @t 27,59 8,388 2,533 44,096

Timing of revenue

recognition W R A R
A pointin time X-EREMRER
Over time BEl R

Total Mgt
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WKk 2 ZBER (&)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (a) Wz (&)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) FEFEHAWEMNSEE)
customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

BZ019F3R31BLLFE
Lease
Sales of related Repair and
machinery operating  maintenance Delivery Installation
and parts services service service service Total

Rk REERH BER

THHE WRERE RERE  ORERE  ZERS a5t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAL TAL TAL TAL

Geographical markets 35

Hong Kong &b 10,154 10,150 2373 8603 1,135 32415
Macau bl 395 3 7 534 30 969
Others Hip - 624 2 14 = 640
Total st 10,549 10,777 2382 9,151 1,165 34024

Timingofrevenue  WHEBERAEY

recognition
A pointin time E-HHEEEZ 10,549 = 2382 9,151 - 22,082
Over time BEEr R - 10777 - - 1,165 11942
Total ast 10,549 10777 2382 9,151 1,165 34024




NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WHEEDIHER (&)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (a) Uz (@)

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in

the segment information.

(i)

BEFEENRENSE(E)

TREIEFP A KU A
BERARE SR -

Segment revenue

2Bk =

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET

Lease related operating services ERE B ERIRIERE X
and other services H b AR %S 16,502 23,475
Trading 25 27,594 10,549

Revenue from contracts BEESHWE

with customers 44,096 34,024
Leasing of machinery WS 101,691 112,086
Total revenue Feglgay 145,787 146,110

©
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of machinery and parts

Revenue from sales of machinery and parts is from
contracts with customers and recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the goods.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been accepted
by the customer. The customer has full discretion over
the usage of the goods, and has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
The normal credit term is 0 to 30 days upon invoice
issued.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract
value as deposits from customers when it signs the sale
and purchase agreement. The deposits will be
recognised as revenue when the customer obtains
control of the machinery.

All the sales of machinery and parts are completed
within one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Lease related operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong
Kong by sending equipment operators to operate the
equipment at the job sites of its customers. Such
services are recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs. The
normal credit term is 0 to 45 days upon invoice issued.
The invoice is issued upon the completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related operating service
are one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

5.
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NOTES TO CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Lease related other service income

The Group’s other service income, which arise from
rental arrangements including repair, maintenance,
installation and delivery services. Revenue from delivery
is recognised when the goods have been delivered to
the customer's specific location. Revenue from repair
and maintenance service are recognised when the
service rendered is completed. Revenue from
installation service is recognised over time because the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The normal credit term is 0 to 45 days upon
invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related other services are
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

5. RBERDIBER (5
(a) W= (&)

(ii)

BEFANNBERNEE(E)

T B A B A fit fRIF A
REEHEAMREWAZRE B
M BEgE RE &
= RRKARTE o TRXWER TI R
B RIREE R FIEE R B
TR ,\&ﬂk&%%ﬁlﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂlﬁlﬁ?&
R IR L AR TS R RER o

PR 75 9 Uk 25 BE BRI SR, - R
RAEENEOITREE ‘}ZE&
R—EREEWAES R
HEFPIEHNEE - —REE
B A EROE4H - BER
R TR ERA -

HEEBMNEMREHNEL
HMAE—FHAT - EHEBYTE

EEAFE SRS A
BERBEIEERZIRATHAD
M B B

2020
2020 &

HK$’000
FTERT

Leases (i) #HE
For operating leases: MEEHEMS -
Lease payments that are fixed B HERRK

For the year ended 31 March 2020, there is no
contingent rental recognised.

BLZE2020F3 A3 HIEFE -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segmentinformation

For management purpose, the Group is organised based on
its business activities. The Group determines its operating
segments based on these business activities that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, i.e. the
executive directors of the Company, for the purpose of
resources allocation and performance assessment.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

Leasing — Leasing of machinery, repair and
maintenance service, delivery service and
installation service

Trading —  Sales of machinery and parts, and delivery
service

Segment information about these reportable and operating
segments is presented below:

Segment revenue and results
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Revenue &

Segment revenue from external BN R HY
customers 7 bR

Results E3

Segment results DEBHELE

Unallocated income RO BUA

Unallocated expenses RAOEHAZ

Consolidated loss before tax of REBMAREBRBLAT
the Group 518

5.

W ss & 2 EBE R (50

(b)

7 HE R

RERERN  ARBREXKEESE
B AKERUESXGIBEEES
BN HEREERKEE (AR
BIMITESR) EMERM  UOBEER
KEHERE

i

g = '$§,’€ * BEEVBRE
$8nwl— El JE"JTEEi&&
%\E‘Bﬁﬂ—l—-

>m

'J

B jm

S

i

g — HWHEE-  #EBRKR
BIRT - IRERTS K
R IRTS

R EZHHE &
R X AR5

i
il
|

Bl ST 2R BICE S B D BE
BRFX25) :

PENE R EE
B F 202043 A 31 HIFFE

Leasing Trading Total
HE BE At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T#T Ti#

118,193 5 145,787

8,540

209
(30,555)

(21,806)
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AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WzRk 5 BER (5)
Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER(E)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) 2EB U I 4R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BB 20193 A31 HIFFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE == 5T
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Revenue &=
Segment revenue from external & B SMNERR P B9 2 BE Uk 2
customers 135,561 10,549 146,110
Results &
Segment results DEPELE 23,684 1,740 25424
Unallocated income ADEEUWA 362
Unallocated expenses KB (28,168)
Consolidated loss before tax of REBWERE BRTL AT R F
the Group (2,382)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group'’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
earned by each segment without allocation of certain interest
income and sundry income, exchange loss, certain sundry
income and central administration expenses. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions according
to operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment
assets and liabilities are presented as the information is not
regularly reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance.
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Nﬂ‘

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Impairment loss recognised on plant
and equipment
Impairment loss recognised on lease
receivables and trade receivables,
net
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

ERREM R RERESE

BERERERIER
25 ERHERERR
5

Mg BERRETE

EREEENE
HEME - Wi L&

For the year ended 31 March 2019

5. WaEkoIPER @
(b) AEER(E)
Hit o BmE R
B ZE20204F3 A 31 HIFFE

Leasing Trading Unallocated Total
HE EE L #ast
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET TER TET

BHE2019F3 A31 HIFFZE

Leasing Trading  Unallocated Total
HE BE AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TAT TRT TR

Impairment losses recognised for
lease receivables and trade
receivables, net

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

ERRENEETRR
BHEAGRRERR
R

mE - W RRENE

HEME « B LR B

1,027 154 = 1,181
49457 5 1471 50933
5,348 = = 5,348




NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WK D EHER (4#)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZWERE)
Geographical information I &R
The Group’s revenue from external customers is mainly REE KRB IR P E ENTE
BEB R REMMENES - K
BEREFEHEET -

derived from customers located in Hong Kong, Macau and
other locations, which is determined based on the location of
customers.

2020 2019
2020 & 20194
HK$’000 HKS'000
THET T

External revenue: SNEB U A
Hong Kong B8 134,927 133,716
Macau YR PY 8,516 11,408
Others Hith 2,344 986
145,787 146,110

AEENFRBDEE(RUFEES
BARBEEAEMIEMCES D) &

The Group's non-current assets based on the geographical
location of the group companies owning these assets are as

©

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T

W 5070C

follows: W
2020 2019
2020 F 20194F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT

Non-current assets: ERBEE

Hong Kong 575 211,199 210,032
Macau il 8,107 5,843
Others Hith 23,632 5,371
242,938 221,246

Note: Non-current assets excluded deposit placed for a life insurance
policy and deferred tax assets.

M JERBEETEESREREFRR
BEETIREE -

Information about major customers FRETEEFMNER
There are no customers contributing over 10% of the total RIEE RS EE PGB A K
revenue of the Group during both years. #810% ©



°

+ Annual Report 2020

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

6.

B M iSRRI

HAp U A

2020
2020 F
HK$°000
FHBxT

Htl s R EHE

2020
2020 F
HK$°000
FHET

(470)

5,435

4,965

OTHER INCOME 6.
Interest income from: FBEWAKE :

— bank deposits — RITTER

— deposit placed for a life insurance — ERIRBEER

policy

Storage income BRIk A
Sundry income FIEUA
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7.
Exchange loss, net b 5 B 18 55
Gain on disposal of property, MEWE - &

plant and equipment B
FINANCE COSTS 8.

BE KA

2020
2020 £
HK$’000
FHT

Interest on borrowings (note 22)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 25)
Imputed interest on loans from

a related company (note 24)

e (P 22)

HEA BB (FE25)

D =Rial i) NGl S N0
HEE S (5 24)

975
)

87

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
l\\/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

327

96
1,677
2,093

2019
20194
HK$'000
FET

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHT

513



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 9. FEH(ER)MX
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Current tax E HTiIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBRFH -
Macau Complementary Income Tax SEPIPTIS TR 153
153
Deferred taxation (note 23) IEFERT IR (P 5E 23) (12)
141

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profits for both years.

For the subsidiary registered in Singapore which is subject to
Singapore income tax at 17% (2019: 17%). No provision for Singapore
income tax had been made as it had no assessable profits for both
years.

For the subsidiary registered in Macau, Macau Complementary
Income Tax is calculated at 12% of the estimated assessable profit
exceeding MOP600,000 after the deduction of dividend paid for
both years. No provision for Macau Complementary Income Tax had
been made as it had no assessable profits for the current year.

For subsidiary registered in China, under the Law of the PRC on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25%.

A AR = B X R B F 2 3 R AR A
BRBHRBBMNEHES -

PART AN SE M e T 8 8 B ZR 2 17%(2019%F
17%) B R BN T ISR PS5 » R IMFERX
M E RS EERTEN - BORE R
PSR o

NRPIEMARNNBARIMS %M
BFERPIFMSHFTH IR NGB IRER
B.1& 18 8 600,000 38 P9 7T &9 & 51 FE 2R B i F)
B 12% 5T & o AR ASE BN AN FE I &R
RRBE A - WK A FT IR P FTAS 17 7 R
{ °

HRPEEMAIOMBRR - RigT
CEMGTE(RERAEBE]D REEM
BBORE RG] - o Bl &8 R B AR 25%
BMEEMREH

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T

Bt 40000 »



NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (Continued) 9.
The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled from
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

Fr&® (ER) A (50
AEEMEH(ER)AxBRaEaRE
ft = U as R TR R B AT B R BRI T -

\ 4
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2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHT
Loss before tax BRI ATEE (21,806) (2,382)
Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% RERAHE165% 5 EHTIE (3,598) (393)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR AZ RS2
for tax purpose 866 803
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBTBRARNTL S22
tax purpose (24) (54)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ﬂiﬁﬁi?} MEERNRETE 593 646
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiary REMBEEEREEHMNE QA
operating in other jurisdiction W RERNTE (140) (58)
Others HAh 176 (803)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year ~ AREEFTSH (R )X (2,127) 141




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B SRR N At

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10. AEEEFE

2020 2019
2020 F 20195
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHT

Loss for the year has been arrived R T 538 B B AFEEIE
at after charging:

Auditor's remuneration 1% E BB & 1,883
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses TR {ER X HEE K 4 5,668
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)% - ### & R & T E 50,933
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE =
Write-down of inventories T E MR -
Staff costs: BIRA
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) BEEMe (FFE1) 6,749 6,660
Other staff costs: HAth 8 TAAS :
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — %o R EHAET 33,224 34,008
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIREFIFT B LR
contributions 1,402 1,477
34,626 35,485
Total staff costs 488 TR 41,375 42,145
Operating lease rentals in respect of MERFHKEHERS
rented premises
— minimum lease payments — &ERHEENIK 5113

4

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T

By 000C



Annual Report 2020

.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SN E R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Note: The Group has established the MPF Scheme for its Hong Kong

employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds
which are under the control of independent trustees. The retirement
benefit scheme contributions recognised in profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5% of
each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at
HK$30,000 (2019: HK$30,000) per month.

The eligible employees of the Company's subsidiaries in the Macau,
Singapore and the PRC are members of pension schemes operated
respective local governments. The subsidiary in Macau is required to
contribute MOP60 for every employee per month while the subsidiary
in Singapore is required to contribute 16% of the employee’s monthly
gross salary. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contribution
under the schemes.

The total costs charged to profit or loss for the year of HK$1,474,000
(2019: HK$1,549,000), comprised HK$72,000 and HK$1,402,000 (2019:
HK$72,000 and HK$1,477,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff
costs respectively, and represented contributions paid or payable to
the schemes by the Group in respect of the current year. At the end of
the reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.

10. AEEEFE %)

BaE

AEBEABBEERLBESTE - 5
BMEENBY ERAEENESERS
FFE - RIBESER AR RS FFT 8 #E5R
BAKEZS R B 3000087 (20194
30,0007 7T) & LR KA B A F 5% E 1+

Tﬁghl \T>)\°

ANARIFRP ~ 70 R BB AR
WA EREE AR EHMBFERNENRSE
stEIKE RPN BARESARER
1B B 60RPITT » M KM B A RIZA
FEB BF AL EER 6%t - AEM
AR KERF BN —F EARIER 2
YEH FRZBHRER -

RERBmNR 2 KA BEEL A 1,474,000
7570 (20194F © 1,549,00078 7T ) * BIEH 7
£72,0007% JT K& 1,402,0007% 7T (20194F
72,000 77T 1,477,000 78 70) K E E € &
HMETHKA  AAREERAFEE M E
YEE BB S ER SR - RREHIKR - I
AR WA R AT R E R SRR E AE ©



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the

Company are as follows:

For the year ended
31 March 2020

Executive directors:
Lau Pong Sing
Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Non-executive director:
Tomokatsu Nakazawa

Independent non-executive directors:

Li Ping Chi
Siu Chak Yu
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond

BZ202063831H
LEE

HITEE:
BFBAK

FanTES:
RERR

BUFRTES
FRE
wET
(BEZ3

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

Fees

s
HK$'000
FET

1. ESX  BSTRAEBREEMNSE

ENRENARRESFOMEFBNT

Other emoluments

Hit &

Basic

salaries,

allowances
and other  Discretionary
benefits bonus

ExFHe -

EER RIRER
Hit @Al BETEA FHEIHRR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHAT TAT

(Note)

(PR=E)

Retirement
benefits
scheme
contributions

For the year ended BZE201953A31H
31 March 2019 LEE
Executive directors: HTES:
Lau Pong Sing ZIFRK = 2772 = 36 2,808
Chan Kit Mui, Lina RRIE - 2,736 - 36 2772
Non-executive directors: FHMITES -
Tomokatsu Nakazawa FER (R20185F
(appointed on 14 December 2018) N A14BEZME) = = = = =
Lu Tao (resigned on 14 December 2018) &% (1A 2018 4F
12814 BEHT) = = = = =
Independent non-executive directors: B IEMITES ¢
Li Ping Chi FIRE 240 = = = 240
Siu Chak Yu mET 240 - - - 240
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (OF=2:3 600 - - - 600
1,080 5,508 - 72 6,660

Note: The discretionary bonus is mainly determined on the basis of the

performance of the Group and individual.

i MIBTEAZZUARAEEXEREARER
EHETE ©

\ 4
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I\\/T\

B MR T

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The Group has been providing accommodation, which is leased
from third party, to Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina for use by her and her
family members at no charge. The estimated money value of the
benefit in kind is approximately HK$484,000 (2019: HK$468,000).

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company. No emoluments were paid to the non-
executive directors for both years. There was no arrangement under
which a director or the Chief Executive of the Company waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration for both years.

Mr. Lau Pong Sing is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for
the year, two (2019: two) of them were directors of the Company,
whose emoluments are included in above. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2019: three) individuals were as follows:

11.

BEE BETHRAEREEMS
(&)
AEE—EREBREE=ZFHEANER -
DHRZEZ R EREREFER - BEY
e M (5T B EE(E B A% 484,000 7% 70(2019
£ 1 468,000 7T) ©

LHHTEEHE T EZRAEREE AR
RASESBRHAREHR - LB
HTESTHE I RREARBEECARRES
RHUIREHERE - ZMEFERERIFNT
EEXME - ARBEFHERSITERA
BRZmEFEANLEREXREREME
B2 B 2Bk

BIBRELENMRBERARZRHTHAR - £
XAEEENEBREERAREITRAR
RERGHOME -

AEEARERAREEHALTHRE (2019

Basic salaries and allowance and EARE S MR K
other benefits H A

Discretionary bonus BEIEAL

Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRAEFIET B K

F MR ABRAARNES  EWLET AL
XA BT =%(2019%F : =&) AT
LW

2020 2019

2020 & 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

2,244

54

2,298




11.

12.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND M. EE ESTBRAEREEME
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not directors of e nFREERERRRESRSH
the Company whose remuneration within the following band is as BEHEWT :
follows:
2020 2019
2020 20194F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AR
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 % 7T g
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the REEFE  RRELEARDFESN
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors AEBSHAL(BREERESR) MM
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group < 1R 7R 0 BR AN 5% B8 i n B B ) S o B L
or as compensation for loss of office during both years. s -
DIVIDEND 12. B2
Dividend recognised as distributions of the Company during the ARAHE2019F3831 BILFEERA
year ended 31 March 2019 represented final dividend for the year AIRMBRBIERE2018F3 A AL FE
ended 31 March 2018 of HK cent 0.35 per share, totalling REIRE B ERR03578M + & $£3,024,000787C ©

HK$3,024,000 in aggregate.

No final dividend has been proposed for the year ended 31 March BZE2020F3A31HIEFE - WAEBRAK
2020. HARLS, o

- @

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T

Bt 40000 »
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7j ﬁ #& % BH n_|I_

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of AREEEARGEREAREBTIERT
the Company is based on the following data: PIEEETE -
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR ESREREIBRIARAF]
of the Company for the purpose of e ANELAFEEE
basic loss per share (19,679) (2,523)
‘000
T
Number of shares f& 1 2B
Number of ordinary shares for the AR EZREREIERN
purpose of basic loss per share 37 A AR 2R 864,000 864,000
Note: The calculations of the basic loss per share for both years are based on BEE - E ot {4 S AR AR T iR A A Al
the loss attributable to owners of the Company using the number of BEABEBERFRAREITRMHEGTE -

shares in issue during the year.

BRI EEE D RITEAR - &2

No diluted loss per share is presented for both years as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue.

ZMEFENSREEEE -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B SRR N At

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

CosT R
At 1 April 2018 R2018E4A1R
Additions NE
Disposals L&
Exchange realignment B A
At31 March 2019 R2019%3A31H
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEE—FIHB A7)
(note 31) (PzE31)
Additions hE
Disposals HE
Exchange realignment B 5 F
At 31 March 2020 R202063 318
DEPRECIATION AND RERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2018 R018%F4A18
Provided for the year EERE
Eliminated on disposals HEREH
Exchange realignment B 5 9%
At31 March 2019 R2019%3A31H
Provided for the year EERE
Impairment loss recognised B RMBRTEAL)
in profit or loss WEER
Eliminated on disposals HEREH
Exchange realignment B 5 i
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3 4318
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2020 R202063A31H
At31 March 2019 R201953A31H

Plantand
machinery

KRR

HK$'000

324316
91,757
(3399)

1

382,076

19,914
68,844
(30,169)

(464)

440,201

134,230
47,749

(15956)
1

166,024
54,745

2,525
(14,270)

(30)

208,994

231,207

216,052

(0]
equipment

837

14. Y¥ - WK XE

Furniture
and Leasehold
fixtures improvements
HAR HE
EE#E VEEA RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

oy

Motor
vehicles

228 5430 14812
203 317 1
- - (80)

112 4258 10,059
133 558 1847
= = (77)

186 931 2904

Tools

I8
HK$'000

1576 349,340
109 92478
= (34250)

407,569

466,323

1,098 151487
251 50933
= (16,098)

= 1

186,323
57,246

2,525
(14,384)

234,643

336 221,246

©
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NOTES TO CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. YI% - BBRRE (E

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum after taking
into account the residual values:

Plant and machinery 15% to 30%
Others 20%

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out a number of machineries under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one month.
None of the leases includes variable lease payments. These
machineries under operating leases included within plant and
machinery.

Impairment Assessment

The management of the Group assessed and concluded if there was
indication for impairment by reference to the utilisation and income
generated from the plant and machinery in recent years, impairment
assessment are conducted on recoverable amounts of the plant and
equipment with impairment indicator. The recoverable amount of
the plant and equipment are estimated individually.

The impairment amount has been recognised and such that the
carrying amount of each plant and machinery is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use and
zero. The management determine the recoverable amount based on
fair value less cost of disposal by reference to the recent disposal
values, third parties’ quotations or transaction prices of similar assets.
Based on the recoverable amount of the individual assets,
HK$2,525,000 has been recognised against the carrying amount of
plant and equipment.

Ll - HWRE ﬁlﬁﬁ.ﬁr&ﬂﬁ%fﬁﬁ
BRABAER THIFRIFE -

G YN 15% Z= 30%
HA 20%
AEEAHBEA

AEBAZERET NS T - 8
E-—RA/H—EA  AEHESTEER
BHENK FHLEHENRRERERE
e R A o

B RS

AEBEEENEL S HER  2ROF
e R B ERBIER R ELERA - 0
REBETR - AIEARET RO R
R H O AT U B B R AET TR E A ©

BESIED R UBE RN EOR
EERHBREEREAAEREEMAE -

E@Jﬂ{ﬁ@& —ERNERE- BEE
BEIHEE F-ARENELUEE
E’MEH 1% WIR AR EREERANUE
AT EI S FE o RIRMERIEERM A UE S8 -
B RERRM S 2R Y BRI B.2,525,000 8 7T ©



NOTES TO CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EREEE
Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 April 2019 201954818
Carrying amount BRTEE -
As at 31 March 2020 2020563 A31H
Carrying amount IREE 7,224
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZE2020F3 A31HILFE
Depreciation charge heE® 1,463
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases  7£ & /X & A& 78 B 15 R & YE B 55 16 9%
with lease terms end within 12 months of Z BRE12 M A A& IERY RS HATE &
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 Hin BB ERHAHE
— in respect of rented premise — BB EEM 4454
— in respect of machinery rentals — BRARmES 18,823
Total cash outflow for leases BREER SR 23973
Additions to right-of-use assets ERAEEENHT 8,687

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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16.

B MR T

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

DEPOSIT PLACED FOR A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY 16. ERRERFER
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy SRIREF K 2,725
The Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) with an REBEERBE ARG ASRRE([RE])

insurance company to insure a director of the Company. Under the
Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a subsidiary of the
Company and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,757,000).

At inception of the Policy, the Group is required to make a single
upfront payment of US$322,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,497,000) which includes a fixed policy premium charge and a
deposit. Monthly policy expense and insurance charges will be
incurred over the insurance period with reference to the terms set
out in the Policy. The insurance company will pay the Group a
guaranteed interest rate of 4.2% for the first year and a variable
return per annum afterwards (with guaranteed minimum interest
rate of 2%) during the effective period of the Policy. The Group may
request full surrender of the Policy at any time and receive cash back
based on the value of the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is
determined by the gross premium paid plus accumulated interest
earned and minus the policy expense and insurance premium
charge. If such withdrawal is made between the first to eighteenth
policy year, a pre-determined specified surrender charge will be
imposed on the Group.

The directors of the Company consider that the possibility of
terminating the Policy during the first eighteen years was low and
the expected life of the life insurance policy remains unchanged
since its initial recognition. The policy premium, expense and
insurance charges are recognised in profit or loss and any fair value
changes of the deposit placed is recognised in profit or loss.

BADNR—BREBRRR - BERE i
ARREHEABERRMBAR - ik
& R 58 41,000,000 3£ 7T (FHZFE R 497,757,000
BIL) ©

REMIRER  AEEASN 28BN
7X322,000 3% 7T (8 55 7 #9 2,497,000 78 )

BRETERERETR - FARBRAL KR
BRFEEERNREBEANZBREMIFIER

EA - RBAASHAEE S EFRE
FIE42%  WHRARBREEBRBAGTFX

AT B 3R (RARRBA KR 2%) - REE
FIRERY ERE2FRME - WHRERFRERRE
PHREBE(RENREBEABMRACE
MEXHRREMIRREFEEMET)
MIRE - WRE-—EF+\EREFEZ
RRR - ARERARNETRRTEE

ARBEERBR/RET/\BREFEA

IEREATREMEE - Bk 1%$E’ﬁﬁu+7ﬁ
BB EREREERTE - RE - X
RERBFEENERER  MANERLY
ER AR EZEBIFNIERTER
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18.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B SRR N At

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

INVENTORIES 17. &8
2020
2020 &
HK$'000
FER
Finished goods UK R 25,311
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 18.
AND PREPAYMENTS =1E

2020
2020 &
HK$’000
FHBxT

Lease receivables from:
— outsiders
— a subsidiary of a shareholder of
the Company
— arelated company
Less: Allowance for credit loss

EKRTIALHESE

Trade receivables from contracts
with customers
Less: Allowance for credit loss

—HNRAL 42,436
— ARRE]—BRED
SpEENE] 768
— — A A A 429
W EEEERE (11,637)
31,996
REBRFEEHM
E 5 NGB

w EEEERE

Other receivables E e IR
Value added tax recoverable AT EEE R
Rental deposits paid BHEES
Other deposits and prepayments Eige MBS FIE
Analysed as: DA
Current M ED 43,462
Non-current — Deposits paid for acquisition ERE — WEYE -
of property, plant and equipment R ERENENIRS 421

Non-current — rental deposits

ERE —HEERS 650

44,533

2019
20195
HK$'000
FHT

BEZRHEMBWFIER - BERFEF

2019
20194
HK$'000
FAET

42,228

1314
697
(6,524)

37,715

43,577

\ 4
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
As at 1 April 2018, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$4,678,000.

The following is an aged analysis of lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

18.

BEZRHMERFE RERFEN
FIE (48)

R2018F4 8180 BEFENEENESE
U FRI8 A 4,678,000 7S TC

AT ARBREHRIZEZAH25 R
HERBRE S RUGK (EHREEEEE
) BRI DT

2020 2019

2020 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FAET

Within 30 days 308 10,341
31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 12,538
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H 4,759
91 to 180 days 91HZ=180H 6,108
Over 180 days HiE 180 H 5,804
39,550

As at 31 March 2020, included in the Group's lease receivables and
trade receivables balances were debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$28,552,000 (2019: HK$31,107,000) which were past
due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances
as at 31 March 2020, HK$9,320,000 (2019: HKS$13,590,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and are not considered as in default as
debtors normally will settle the outstanding balances after 90 days
overdue with reference to the debtors settlement pattern. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 30.

20203 A31 8 - AEEEKREERIE
LESREBFELGEEARAES
28,552,000 7T (2019 4F : 31,107,000/87T) #J
FEUER R - R RS BIRE B H o 742020
F3IANAEMEL P - 93200007 7T
(20194 : 13,590,000 7% 7T ) B 48 #A 90 H 3k JA
FETHEAREN  BERKER—RSHE
A0 Hig 2 ZRUR R NGB R
BB  AEBYARZSERITET
(EE:wiloas

Z 5 NE MW IBR R EFHF RN
FIEE30 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

19. BANK DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITYLESS 19. EZ A A=AAUANETHE

THAN THREE MONTHS/BANK BALANCES AND R RITEBREE SEFRIT
CASH/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT L2

At 31 March 2020, bank balances carry interest at market rates of 7202063 A31 B RIT4 B/ IR T 5 F F
0.01% per annum (2019: 0.01% per annum). #0.01% (20194 « FHZF0.01%) TR °

At 31 March 2019, the bank deposits with original maturity less than R2019F3A318 - REIHBEA=@A
three months carried fixed interest ranging from 1.9% to 2.6% per ARERTTFE FIR T T21.9% & 2.6% 7 [E & F
annum. MEFE -

At 31 March 2020, pledged bank deposit carries fixed interest at 2020563 A31 H - BRFRITERIRE
0.05% per annum (2019: 0.2% per annum). TEFFZ0.05%(2019%F : FFIF0.2%)5T 2 °
Details of impairment assessment of bank deposits with original REIBHE A =18 A LLAMIRITIFRK « ]RIT
maturity less than three months, bank balances and pledged bank HEARRBEARITERARETEHFEE
deposit are set out in note 30. B30 ©

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 200 ESRHMESKERETEAR @
CHARGES

2020 2019 Eﬁ
2020 20194F E-%
HK$'000 HKS$'000 [
FER FET 5
=
el
Trade payables (Note a) B S 5E (iEa) 37,177 33,438 .
Accrued expenses (Note b) FEETF 2 (PFiEEb) 9,560 7,604 3
Other payables (Note c) A fE A FRIE (Mt o) pX-113 4,349 it
ﬁ
49,693 45,391
Analysed as: DA
Current mE 37,335 45,391
Non-current FETRED
— trade payable to a subsidiary of a — ERARRE—BIRERR
shareholder of the Company MBARIMNE SKIE 12,358 =

49,693 45,391
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2020, included in trade payables is HK$21,669,000 (2019:
HK$10,179,000) payable to a subsidiary of a shareholder of the
Company. Except for a trade payable of HK$18,475,000 carrying on an
interest rate of 3.6% per annum and payable by 36 monthly
instalments from 25 March 2020, other trade payables are under
normal credit term granted by suppliers.

(b) As at 31 March 2020, included in accrued expenses are mainly accrued
staff costs of HK$5,047,000 (2019: HK$4,812,000).

(©) As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, included in other payables are mainly
professional fee payable, insurance payable and other utility payable.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

20 EFREMENRERETEN

(#8)
BifRE

(@)

MR20206F3 8310 - BESENFIERER
NARBR—BREOWE QA RE
21,669,000/ 7T (20194F : 10,179,000/ 7T ) °
B — SR K 5 36%I 78 H 20204 3 A 25
H# 2361 AN ZHE S ERKRE
184750008 T Hh + H Ath B 5 T FKIBTY
RIEERE TR —REEMNR -

MR2020F3A31 8 BtAZXEEZRERE
58 A AN5,047,00078 70 (20194 © 4,812,000
I °

MR 2020F K 20193 A31 8 » EMEMK
BXEERERNEXER  BHRERHE
AR EER o

TREHEHENFIERH S PARILERA
H2 5 HRRE AT :

Within 30 days 30 HA

31 to 60 days 312 60H
61 to 90 days 612 90H
91 to 180 days 912180 H
Over 180 days BB 180 A

The credit period on trade payables is ranging from 0 to 180 days
(2019: 0 to 180 days).

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

20,818 9,588
5,045 12,257
499 7173
9,505 1,737
1,310 2,683

37,177 33,438

B S RENFRENEESENT0E180H(2019
F:0F180H)TE -
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21. EHEE

2020 2019
2020 F 20195
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHT

Relating to sales of machinery and parts

SRR I 1 5 5 1E R 13,233 563

As at 1 April 2018, contract liabilities amounted to HK$438,000.

R2018F4 818 » S4B EAE43800078 7T ©

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract value as AEEBERRFLREE HEREMM
deposits from customers when it signs that sale and purchase WER & A B E R 10% E40%1ERBET & ° 5]
agreement. The deposits will be recognised as revenue when the SRR P ES AR S T 14 45 4
customer obtains control of the machinery and parts. R AW -
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRERCHEZNRAFRZ DEEESH
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to BEREERZDEFBPEETT E’J BREE
performance obligation that were satisfied in prior periods. 18R o
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FAT
Balance at the beginning of the year FHERER 563 438
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of G RFERUWA (RENFAE L
recognising revenue during the year that aE)EBRELNEERD
were included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (438)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ~ EIUZ BRI R SFSHE IR S
receiving deposits in respect of sales of BHAELBEEN
machinery and parts 563
Balance at the end of the year FRBRE 563

\ 4
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22. BORROWINGS 22. f&®k
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Secured borrowings BEIBER 23,164 16,852
Unsecured borrowings R IR(E X = 609
17,461
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Carrying amounts of borrowings that do I B Z8 1% 22 K& FRIG R IE R
not contain a repayable on demand BB R P B TR E & R
y= £ (£ .
clause and are repayable based on the BEES N fE R AREE -
scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements:
Within one year —FR 5,109
Carrying amounts of borrowings that BEARERERIERAERK
contain a repayable on demand clause (R EBEE F25]) 8
(shown under current liabilities) and REEMZERDETRTETE
the maturity analysis based on the BEXABFERBMA SR
scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements are:
Within one year —FR 13,534 8,602
More than one year but not ZR—F - BAZRME
exceeding two years 7,054 3,750
More than two years but not ZIME - BAZRAF
exceeding five years 2,576 =
23,164 12,352
23,164 17,461
Less: Amounts due within one year B RRBBEE N2 —FA
shown under current liabilities 2| HAFKIA (23,164) (17,461)
Amounts shown under non-current RIEREN B EIE T 25K FIE

liabilities
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NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 March 2020, included in Group's borrowings of HK$23,164,000
(2019: HK$12,443,000) are fixed-rate borrowings carry interest
ranging from 2.05% to 2.35% (2019: ranging from 2.05% to 2.20%)
per annum.

At 31 March 2019, included in the Group's borrowings of HK$518,000
and HK$4,500,000 were variable-rate borrowings carry interest at
Hong Kong Best Lending Rate minus 0.9% and Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate plus 2.75% respectively. The remaining are fixed-rate
borrowings carry interest ranging from 2.05% to 2.35% (2019:
ranging from 2.05% to 2.20%) per annum.

The secured borrowings were secured by property, plant and
equipment, deposit placed for a life insurance policy and pledged
bank deposit as disclosed in note 34.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s general banking facilities
amounting to HK$55,749,000 (2019: HK$53,528,000) are secured by
unlimited corporate guarantee from the Company.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

22,

23.

sk ()
20203318 AEBEERTPEIE
23,164,000 75 7T (2019 4F : 12,443,000787T) K
Bl FEER - N T 2.05%F 2.35% (2019
£ NTF205%F 2.20%) FE RS o

201938310 AEEMNEBERFEE
518,000 7T & 4,500,000 7 7T B /% B S 2K -
D BRI T & B B G 0.9% M BB RTT
RZEFENN275%FT B © BT BIEN F2.05%
£235% (20194 : 17 F2.05% Z= 2.20%) F )
K BHEEFRERK o

BEMIETAM L34 AR T - R
B BRAREFFUAREEARITHE
AR

MR2020F3 A31 8 REEM—RIETTH
& %8 /455,749,000 7T (2019 4F : 53,528,000
BIT) + AR RIEERR HA R R R EER IR -

ELEBREE A
AREEFBRARNEIIME - TR
RRBEENBEC IR - AT AL
&N 5 REHIBREE DN -

Deferred tax assets BT IEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERIAEE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FAET
(167)

26,924

26,757

6
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23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
by the Group and movements thereon during both years:

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax

23. EEMEBELEE BE@)

losses

MEHRERE BEER

(2,553)

(2,553)

(1,568)

HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THERT
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4H1H 26,769
Charge (credit) to BEmAR GEA
profit or loss Bx) 3,508
At31 March 2019 201963 A31R
Acquisition of a subsidiary 4 E— M B A A
(note 31) (BF7E31) M
(Credit) charge to (A=) s
profit or loss ik (554)
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31H 29,764

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$32,152,000 (2019: HK$19,390,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$24,976,000 (2019: HK$15,473,000) of such losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$7,176,000
(2019: HKS$3,917,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$517,000 (2019: nil) that will expire within 5 years
from the date of originating. Other tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

(4,121)

AT BAEERMIEFENERNEZE
EHRIRAE(BE) REEE

ECL Fair value

provision  adjustments Total
BAEE

EBRRA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TEr
- - 26,769
(967) = (12)

26,757
1,148

(2,127)

25,778

RBEBRR AEEBEARHAHBERE
32,152,000 7T (20194F : 1939000078 7T ) 7]
HEH R R F - I B 575 BE & 18 24,976,000
77T (2019 4F © 15,473,000 7T ) FERETE X
HEE - AR EETER RS - B &
BLER T B9 7,176,000 7T (2019 4F : 3,917,000
BT BRIELEIRIBE & ° £9517,000% 7T
(2019 : ) MBS B BRFEEREROTIE
BB - REEZ BAES FAEIE - HbF
IE &5 18 ] PR AR 4592 -



NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

24. LOANS FROM A RELATED COMPANY 24. RE—HBEBLIRZERK
Loans from a related company are unsecured and carried the AR ARINERAERRAERFRNER
effective interest rate of 4.07% per annum. Included in the carrying 407% ° BREI{E 337,794 L (FHERK26 8
amounts of US$337,794 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.6 million) EAT)MM217794F T(HERNI7TEE
and US$217,794 (equivalent to approximately HKS$1.7 million) are BIT) DRI 202110 A F12021F8 AE K ©

repayable in October 2021 and August 2021 respectively.

The related company has common directors with the Company. AR A AR B HRAES -
25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEAE
2020
2020 F
HK$’000
FET
Lease liabilities payable: JENFEEaE
Within one year —FR 2,907
Within a period of more than one year REZN—F  BEAZRMF
but not more than two years 2,892
Within a period of more than two years REIZAME  BENZRASF
but not more than five years 1,485
7,284
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months 1218 A A EIHBREENFIE
shown under current liabilities (RRBEaETIIR) (2,907)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A& B BEENFIE

shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBEE TR

©
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26.

SN E R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE
ISSUED CAPITAL 26. ERITRA
Number of Share
shares capital
RO E ;N
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FRXE(E 0.001 IR E @R
Authorised: JERE ¢
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and R2018F4/818 -
31 March 2020 20193 A31 B R
20203 A31H 10,000,000,000 10,000
Issued: BT -
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 20184818
31 March 2020 201963 31 B KX
20203 H31H 864,000,000 864

27.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme’) pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all
the shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 17 March
2016. The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
eligible participants had made or may make to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board of Directors may at its
discretion grant options to eligible participants, including: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a company
in which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such
company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary
of which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which
include any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an
Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent,
partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

27.

DB ABERT R
REBBIRBEMBRENR2016F3A17H
B A% BR R R K 2 i R R 3 2R FT R AN
RORERRERT 2 ([ B RAEST B - BERRAERT
EEkHREIE S RALZEEERT
K PG B AS ok  aE e M A SR E R I B BAAY
BEKBEE o

REBREFE EFTSURBERAER
SEEFLBRE B 0AKEEM
EX -EB ®wWA BEXAL FF-
HER  RIE SR AHERIABEREK
REEREAEDN R BRZARNNER
AI([BBAL]) : sii)AREBERES
BE  HAA EXAL TP HEF-
RIE - BB AR SR BB A+
REFZANEAGETIA LR RERE
X ANEAEEEFEAREA ¢+ i) A
SEEIFNES - BE  &HAA FEXAL
TP fiEn - K- /\%/\ EEF‘:?JZ)Z%(
BREXBBALESHEEGNR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board of Directors and notified to
each grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company'’s share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which
must be a business day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average
closing price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company's share on the date of grant.
The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments.

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme,
an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time
during the applicable option period, which is not more than ten
years from the date of grant of option.

Under the Share Option Scheme, there is no general requirement on
the minimum period for which an option must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before an option can
be exercised under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However,
at the time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions or
limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to the
minimum period of the options to be held and/or the performance
targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to 31 March 2020, no share option has been granted or agreed to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

27. URHBERBMNR G

BREGSETEMROHNITEESHE
EEEERBASEARA  WZERTE
ERATEENESE  (RELBRE
BHEAM(ZAVARERR)ERIME
BHmEXRFARARBRMDETE : ()BF
REZRLARBRERNAEZXA
EM e R RERMBARQ B RN T
W ENSHE Rl ARRBROPEHA
HIE(E - TTEERAFLE THE -

KRBT BIF#EE TRHIRRT - ATR
PiE AR B (AN B R LB AE A
HIERT ) R RIBBEAE BIGR R E
BRI R A VIR T TR RB A

RIBERETE - YEGEASFBRE
B B A5 B ] X P AR S5 B AR A T B N 8RR AT
ERBRHE R AE MR B RN —RARE

AW - EFE A RE D TR RN IR E
RIERE LA B AETHABRIK
- RHRR (BE(BETRR) ZFHE
EZEUREBENBEEAREBRENR
AR R REERNRR B REEE) -

BRI ST B BR 40 B HA#E = 20204 3 A 31
Al WEREEREFISREXKEER
oH B AR A o

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

28. ADBMBEMRTKRARQBFE

2020
2020 F
HK$°000
THET

138,135
39,615
32,506

210,256

Non-current Assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB A R E
Loans to a subsidiary EXT—HEHEBA R
Amounts due from subsidiaries R SNGIE
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments TEfFRIE

Amounts due from subsidiaries e = NGIE /S

Loans to a subsidiary
Bank deposits with original maturity

ERT—RHKEAT
REIE R A=A AR

less than three months IRITIFER
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRE
Current Liability REIEE

Other payables and accrued expense

H At A< R e B ET X

1,964

32,120

242,376

864
241,512

Net Current Assets REBEETE
Net Assets EEFRE
Capital and Reserves BEXR#E
Issued capital BEITIRA
Reserves et

Total Equity BRER

242,376

2019
20194
HK$'000
FET

138,135
47,664
18,570

204,369

854
10,151
7,684

15,000
3,447

37,136

1,715

35421

239,790

864
238,926

239,790
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 28, XRFMBMRRAKRREAFARE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
The followings are the movements of the Company's reserves for TREYBMEFEARR BN FEES
both years:
Share Retained
premium profits Total
% 105 B REB R st
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T T FHIT
At 1 April 2018 201854 A1 H 232,345 10,642 242,987
Loss and total comprehensive AFEBEREEAY
expense for the year L] = (1,037) (1,037)
Dividend recognised BERRD IS
as distribution (note 12) (Mt5E12) - (3,024) (3,024)
At 31 March 2019 7201943 A31H 232,345 6,581 238,926
Profit and total comprehensive NG & A1 & 2 W &S
income for the year Rk - 2,586 2,586
At 31 March 2020 7202043 A31H 232,345 9,167 241,512
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. EXREBEE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include borrowings, loans from a related company, and cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
management uses short-term funding to finance its daily operation
to minimise finance costs. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues or repayment of
existing debt.

AREERRERNRRNAREOER
AT AT - IR B (T R 3
&# 0 BREFDBAER - R A%
B0 RE R S — B TR o

AEENEARBEEERFE BT
EBER RE—RBEBIRZER kR
ERREEFBMARKRBEE AR
& (BREBRITRARHE) -

ARBEFTERRTERRE - ERILR
AR —#D EFEREAKRAREEE
EXREENRR EEEEREHESE
NEAFEES UKAREMEERENX
K- REBEFERE AREHEEIMTR
BRETHRNFEERGER FTEHEE
BEARE -

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

30. £FTH

Categories of financial instruments a. S@MIAEH
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
Financial assets TREE
FVTPL mBEREANESIR 2,725
Amortised cost HSH AR 91,951
Financial liabilities =R
Amortised cost B AR 55,248
Lease liabilities HEARE -
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. SRIEMEEBEEREX

The major financial instruments of the Group include deposit
placed for a life insurance policy, trade and other receivables,
lease receivables, bank deposits with original maturity less
than three months, pledged bank deposit, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, borrowings and loans from a
related company. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in
currencies which are different from the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure if
necessary.

ﬂgﬁlmigﬁﬁﬂlﬂ@%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
TR B RAMBEIGRIE - EYIE
,JJ\IE [REIEA R &A=& A LA AR

Tl - BEERRITIER - RITER
&Eﬁﬁ B S REMBEMNFIE - B
KRB —E@Es AR B3 - Mt E
SE T AMEENR RS ET SRR
(E¥ER&RFXRER) 8RR
MENE & AR o B ADRIE L E R
RHHRHN TX - BEEEEERE
R ZRR - ARERKEERERETT
HERH -

i AR
B E R
AEBEETRZAEREEERNT
BEEB UM ERSHE - Rt A%E
EER N R o NS E B A SN
MR o AT - B EERIMNER
@ - WHNEFHERZE BEIHERI
R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

30. €@ T HE(®\)

Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2HMEMEEBEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) ™5 Ek (45)
Currency risk (Continued) B m bz (&)
The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated RIFEHR - SEEEEUINEHE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the respective NEKEEREKEEREANT :
group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =R+
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 F 20194 2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THT THET FHET
Japanese Yen ("JPY") HE(TBEDEET
against HKS 1,257 2,612
United States dollars (US$") s ([%Ex]) 8T
against HKS 3,098 2,219
Euro (“EUR’) against HK$ BT ([R]) BT 5 143
HK$ against Singapore dollars 7 7T 3, 7 i3 7T
('SG$") (F#r o 1) - 11,290
Sensitivity analysis BRAE DT

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 5%
increase and decrease in foreign currencies against the
relevant functional currencies of the respective group entities.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where the relevant
currencies strengthen 5% against HKS. For a 5% weakening of
the relevant currencies against the relevant functional
currencies of the respective group entities, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax loss.

TRAJAEEH S EERRINESL
EE@U}@EE‘M@%iﬂ&TBéS%E’U
RAJE 5% RARRAETZEEE A
Eiﬁl\?ﬁ%ﬂ s PR BRE

Ze - RERE IR B HIE R A seE BT
il - GURE DT EBIBNREHRIA
REEINETHENERIRE - LIAE
KEB % FE L FE - TXHIEH
BRARER LB THER ETH5%
MR EIRE - WA EE L& &
BHAMINE SR EXTE

5% HHEHRREBEBBKEFERER

My -

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

$RITHE®

THEREEREREEE)

miEEkE (E)
B (E)
GRE M ()

2020 2019

2020 F 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FHTT

JPY against HKS HEX AT (57)

EUR against HKS BR T A AT ©)

HK$ against SG$ I RFTINTT (472)
For the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in US$, EJEM%EJTEWEM%F&E%

since HKS is currently pegged to USS, the management
considers that the exchange rate fluctuation is not significant.
Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity analysis is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the USS.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed rate borrowings, bank deposits with original maturity
less than three months and pledged bank deposit. The
management will take appropriate measures to manage
interest rate exposure if interest rate fluctuates significantly.
The management considers the fair value interest rate risk to
the Group is insignificant.

At 31 March 2019, the Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to deposit placed for a life
insurance policy, bank balances and variable-rate borrowings
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk was mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the variable rates from the
Group's borrowings denominated in HKS.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate hedging
contracts or any other interest rate related derivative financial
instruments. However, management monitors the Group's
related interest rate exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure when the need
arises.

E

C ARABTT B RIS T HMA - B

-EE$&EITEK'I%ﬁﬁ

ETRER A IS HRER P TR INE 8K
REFE DA o

=

762 T 4 B B E M) R AE K - REHR

A={ERAARRRITER R EERR

TEREBORAENERR - it F

RRERE - IR EHREUEE B

EENEER - EEER/ANEEN
ARENERBETERX °

J‘5A2019¢3H31 B ANEEINEHE

SIREFR - RITHEBRIZENFIE
%?iﬁféaﬂ’ﬂfﬂfﬁulﬁwﬁﬁuﬂﬁ ’ J?IEé
ERAIMSHNEERS - REEIE SR
ENERREBEZEEPRAEE LSBT
FHEE KA FEENF L 8 -

RE BN AT AR K E A 493k
EMEMENEEENITESRT
H- A EEEBRTBERERTEEF
KRR IRNEREREZREY
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis on deposit placed for a life insurance policy
and bank balances is not presented as the management of the
Group considers that the Group's exposure to interest rate
fluctuation is insignificant.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the sensitivity analysis
below had been determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for variable-rate borrowings outstanding at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis was prepared
assuming the variable-rate borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis point (2019: 50 basis point) represented
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. If interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 would
increase/decrease by HK$21,000.

No sensitivity analysis is prepared for the year ended 31 March
2020 since no variable-rate borrowings outstanding as at 31
March 2020.

In management's opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the interest rate risk inherent in the
financial assets and financial liabilities as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

30. SRTE )

b.

THREREEREREEE)
i EE (8)

F=m g (8)

BUREDT

MR AEEERER /N EEHN X
KBEBRSTRE WAL EZ5IHTH

SREFRMIBITEGOTBED
#r e
HE_Z—NAF=A=+—HLHF
& T XHURE DT IR IR RS B R 4
KEBZEEFATEE T RERE
TE o DT TR R RS AR R (EE
ZEME TN EEEEDNREEMIE

e 50 {E £ B4 (20194 = 50 1E £ 2 )
AEBEBYHF RSB LB AT
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to deposit placed for a life insurance
policy, trade and other receivables, lease receivables, bank
deposits with original maturity less than three months,
pledged bank deposit and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and lease
receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit grading system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and grading attributed to
customers are reviewed each year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of lease
receivables and trade receivables based on individual
assessment whereas the remaining balance are assessed by
means of provision matrix through grouping of various
debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal credit ratings of lease receivables and trade
receivables, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status
and forward-looking information of respective lease
receivables and trade receivables that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. Estimated
losses are based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the lease receivables and trade receivables
and are adjusted for forward-looking information. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

30. €@ T HE(®)
b.

cREMREEEERBEE)
FERBKREE

EEAREARENIZHTFREN
B LEOMERA BN BEIRN
R - AEENEERRZ HBEE

Hﬂﬁ"—#ﬁ%%&ﬁﬁlﬁ’ﬂ_ B RE
fb e RIE - THERWSRIE - [REIH
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EE AR E IR E AR EERE
ERMEENEERR
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables and rental deposits

For other receivables and rental deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The directors of the Company
believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended
31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables and rental deposits were insignificant and thus no
loss allowance was recognised.

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy, bank deposits with
original maturity less than three months, pledged bank deposit
and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the
counterparties are banks and an insurance company with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for deposit placed for a life
insurance policy, bank deposits with original maturity less than
three months, pledged bank deposit and bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based on deposit
placed for a life insurance policy, the average loss rates, the
12m ECL on bank deposits with original maturity less than
three months, pledged bank deposit and bank balances are
considered to be insignificant.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the
Group does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk as lease receivables and trade receivables consist of
a large number of customers.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 83%
(2019: 88%) of the lease receivables and trade receivables as at
31 March 2020.

30. SRTE )

b.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy, bank deposits with
original maturity less than three months, pledged bank deposit
and bank balances (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 10% (2019: 5%)
and 27% (2019: 20%) of the lease receivables and trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively within the industry of
the property and infrastructure construction.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

30. S@TE %)

b. £REREEBEERBEKE)
EERMEKEE S (E)
ERIRETF - REIAIH A= 18 A X
AR T 7~ B RHIRI T 750 % 4R
7T45ER ()

AEENEERBRET REREK
HMEFERESRKFIE  DRF
10% (20194F : 5%) K 27% (2019 :
20%) HEWAE B R AEFRA KX
BEPMHIE 25 RXFPREBMERE
IEEERITEE o

AEEBAEEERRFRETERT

the following categories:

HEIEA TR

Internal Trade receivables/
credit rating Description lease receivables Other financial assets
S REKRE
REBEE R RE FEW A EFIR HtheMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settles after due date — not credit-impaired
Ve HAENERE  BRERIEBERH THEHEEEE NEARBEESR
(DE: —YEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
since initial recognition through information — not credit-impaired  — not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
RER BEABISMPIRGLNES - BNFHE 2HEHEEFE 2HRHEEEAR
BIARIE E R AR LE N —YEEERE — T EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
Eia BREBBREECEERE THEDREEEE 2HRIGEER
—EERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
i35 BREBRRAEBARRREMBRE A LB SHE M

SEEERAREZIANHE
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets under the Group’s assessment, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

External Internal
credit rating credit rating

HMBEETR  ABEETIR

Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBRREAABIRNERNEE
Deposit placed for a life

insurance policy
SRREFH

Financial assets at amortised cost

REHERATRNEREE
Trade receivables — sales of (Note)
machinery and parts
BHRUHIE — R THEE i (Ff&E)
Loss
B#E
Lease receivables (Note)
U EF0E GES
Loss
BE
Rental deposits Low risk
HERs i ERR
Other receivables Low risk
H IR KRR
Pledge bank deposit N/A
EHEARITER TEA
Bank balances A2 or above N/A

RITEH A2E{ L E TEA

30. E@MIAE®@)
b. LREMTEEEREEGAE)

FE R ER ()
TRAMAAKEFENAEESH
BEFERR (XEMEEERN G
R

12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REAFEEFESEIZH
RHREBR REAE
HK$'000  HK$'000
TAR TER

2,760 2,760

Lifetime ECL (provision matrix)

2HRNEEER (BEER)
Credit-impaired

BERE

Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 35,951
2HRNEEER (BEER)

Credit-impaired 7,682 43,633
RERE

12mECL
REARMEEER

12mECL
REABRREERER

12mECL
REARMEERR

12mECL 29,901
REARMEERR

g
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By 000C



+ Annual Report 2020

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & ZE 202043 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b.

(Continued)

30. €@ T HE(®)
ctREREEEERBER(B)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERMEKEE S (E)
External Internal
2019 Note  credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
 DERBMEEEAENRH
20195 fis SMBEETR  AREETR BECEESR BREEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT
Financial assets at FVTPL
BREZRAABIENEREE
Deposit placed for a life 16 AA N/A N/A
msurance pohcy 2,725 2,725
Financial assets at amortised cost
BRERATIENEHEE
Trade receivables — sales of 18 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix)
machinery and parts 2,022
BHEWHIE — WK HHE TEm (BE) > HRBGE SRR (BEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 4 2,026
BE FERE
Lease receivables 18 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 39,995
RN & 500R NEA (BE) > HRBEEER (BEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 4,244 44239
BE FERE
Other receivables 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 194 194
Hih R NEm iYEN 121 AEEEEEE
Pledge bank deposit 19 AAorabove N/A 12m ECL 360 360
BRBRTER AARIA £ NEA REARHEERE
Bank deposits with original maturity 19 AAorabove N/A 12m ECL
loss than three months 15,000 15,000
FREEB A={8A AR AAZEA | NEA REARHEEEE
RITER
Bank balances 19 AAorabove N/A 12m ECL 36,801 36,801
RIThEA AAZIA | NEMA EAESREEERE




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

/\\/T\ =

B MR T

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Note:

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
debtors that are assessed individually, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix,
grouped by similar risk exposure, after considering ageing, repayment
history, and/or past due status.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit
risk for lease receivables and trade receivables which are assessed
based on provision matrix as at 31 March 2020 by lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). Debtors with gross carrying HK$7,932,000 (2019:
HK$4,248,000) respectively as at 31 March 2020 were assessed
individually.

30. €@ T HE(®\)

b.

TREMEEBRBRRBEE

FERBRRBERE(E)
MIEE

HREHEREFEMNS ARECEAEE
PSR E LR F oW IH N A AFTE
REBFEREEBERNBIEERS - BE
RFHEREBA - AEEBEBERRBE
B - SR E BARER - BRI R SE
A HEGRLURBRKOETSAE - A
ETAMAANBERERESE -

TRIEH A RS EWGRIE R E 5 R
EHEERRBOMNEE  GREBER
2020331 B2 HTESHEEEE (X
EIEERAE) OB EEBATTE ° 72020
F3[31H - BRELES 547932000
76 (20194F : 4,248,000 7T ) B & A &
BT ©
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gross carrying amount for balances under provision matrix

Average
Internal credit grading loss rate

FHRRE

2020
2020 F
Low risk
1K =B
Doubtful
RER

2019

2019

Low risk 3%
1B R B

Doubtful 22%
RER

30. €@ I HE®)
b. LREREEBEEREEE)

FERBRRRERE(E)
FRIBAEIE IR T 6 AR A R AR BR

Trade
receivables
from sales of
machinery Lease
and parts receivables
RE R
ZHHEN
BEZRWFHE EBWHEERE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T THET THET

24,021 28,866

11,930 11,996

1,339 23,567 24,906

683 16,428 17,111

2,022 39,995 42,017
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount for balances under provision matrix
(Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for lease receivables and trade
receivables under the simplified approach.

30. SRITE %)

b.

TREMEEBRBRRBEE

FE R ER ()
PR AEIE TR T e AR AV AR ET A8 AR (1)

A ERERBEBEEBRIMENE
B W R RO TRET F B BT - EARIE
BEFENETBENERRE HAAE
BHATEEELLETRE - 2ARBR
BEEEE iR ARRABEE
YRR BB BRI D 3T

TRETHEKEETERE HRK
,%‘Klﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ{tﬁitﬁﬁmﬁ’\]’i\ﬁﬁiﬁ,ﬁﬂ%

©

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T

W 5070C

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-

impaired) impaired)

Z=HEH

FEEEBEER ZHEHEE

(TEEE BB (8
AAE) WAE) et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4A1H - 5534 5,534
Impairment losses reversed B EVRERE = (3414) (3414
New financial assets originated ~ #Ti& & @& &= 4,595 = 4,595

At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 4,595 6,715
Transfer to credit impaired EREEERE (1,190) ' -
Impairment losses reversed B O (E g e (1,962) (2,588)
New financial assets originated ~ #Ti&& g & E 3,574 8,188

At 31 March 2020 R20205F3 A31H

5,017

12,315
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. SRITE %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HMEMREEBRBERBEKE)

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly
due to:

EERRRFEEFME (8)
BORWFIEEEREESHEEH
A

Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL

2 HFEHEEEEIE M ORL)
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
I R4S ERE EERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR Tt

2020 2020 F

Trade debtors with a gross amountof Bt E 5 EW R TEHE R B
HK$48,794,000 recognised allowance
for trade receivables

#8{8 48,794,000 7 7T ) JE Uk BR 31

(1,962)

Settlement in full of trade debtors with %% 5 BR [H 4218 2,588,000 7 7T &Y
a gross carrying amount of FE AR R
HK$2,588,000

2019 2019 F

Trade debtors with a gross carrying ERE S EWRGRIERER
amount of HK$42,017,000 recognised
allowance for trade receivables

Settlement in full of trade debtors with
a gross carrying amount of

HK$3,414,000

& W AR R

455 BR T 4818 3,414,000 8 TTHY

B BRTE 4218 42,017,000 78 T Y

4,595 =

= (3414)
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the operations of
the Group, and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

30. E@MIAE®@)

b.

On

TREMEEBRBRRBEE

REBE SRS

ARBDESRBNERNS - AEH
ERREFEERRREHANRE R
ReEFBWKTUASEREENEER
HES  WHIERSMEDHITE

TRAVAKEITES B A BRI
TAHNEMA - BRZBRIBEAEER]
?&E*ﬁﬁﬁ’]??ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ’wﬁ
BRRMESNmE - RBME - 58
/,Jz:ziij'ﬁm{l*mE’M%%’(’E%E’S%E

M REARIA - THwIRTTAZ KR8
BEBTERFHRER - E‘r&#ﬁiﬁ

BB ER R A A EERE AR
ﬁ o

B E L RR T

Liquidity risk analysis
Weighted
average
interest rate
il 4
FH =
%
%
31 March 2020 202063 A31H
Non-derivative financial iabilities ~ FEfT4 & RAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMEMFE
— interest-bearing —ita
— non-interest bearing —88
Borrowings EEA

Loans from a related company
Other item
Lease liabilities

RE—RBBARZER

HtIRR
HERR

demand or
less than

1year
SR1E
HK$000
TR

1to 2 years

12
HK$000
TER

4,654

3,123 2,995

54,607 14,31

Total

More than undiscounted
cash flows
RAERRS
RELE
HK$'000
TAR

2years

BR2E
HK$'000
Ti#x

19,431
21,658
23,164

4,654

7,618

76,525

Carrying
amounts

REE
HK$'000
TERT

18,475
21,658
23,164

4,393

7,284

74,974

©
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

30. €@ T HE(®)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. LREAKREEBEERBEEEE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRER ()
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) BB ER ST (4E)
On
Weighted demand or Total
average less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1to 2 years cash flows amounts
il REXHK ARERE
T & PRIE 2% RERE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TAERT TERT THET
31 March 2019 201934318
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FE#T4 & @A &
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 37,787 - 37,787 37,787
Borrowings &3 283 17,659 = 17,659 17461
55446 s 55446 55,048

The Group's borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “On demand or less than 1 year” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2020, the carrying
amounts of these borrowings amounted to HK$23,164,000
(2019: HK$12,352,000).

LB A DN [RE kDR 4F
REARRBEAEELTEEREX
EIIER BB o BR20209F3 8318 -
It 55 15 3R BR T {8 /423,164,000 78 7T
(20194F : 12,352,000 7T) °
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

Taking into account the Group's financial position, the
directors do not believe that it is probable that the
counterparties will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that
such borrowings will be repaid within two years after the end
of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of
which are set out in the table below:

30. @I E®)

b.

TREMEEBRBRRBEE

RBESRER (&)

B EE RS HT (B)
REBAEEMBEMNE - EFHE
RBHPARAIBEITERENEEEE
KENEEK - ERHREXFERBR
BES Tﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁﬁi‘ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\i&%
HREMFREER  BRFBEHENT
*=:

Maturity Analysis — Borrowings subject to a repayment

on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates

AMEDH —

Less than
one year

PR1E
HK$'000
T

31 March 2020 202053 A31H 14,236

31 March 2019 019%F3A31H 8917

1to 2 years

RBFEFT

1-25
HK$'000
FET

7,293

3,828

2to5years cash outflows

HK$’000

FTHEARERERKR
B A HAER

Total
undiscounted Carrying
amounts

AT REE
RESRH
HK$’000

TER

2-5% REE

HK$'000
TE&RT TERT

2,622 24,151 23,164

= 12,745 12,352

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

2BV i 2 BB MR B
IR AR - B LA
FASRAEIDHNETANSES
BB -

©
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position
Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1,
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation technigues that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

30. S@TE %)

C.

EMITAENAARETE
TREERTRT %E’U”A/ EJHE%Z
AREFERNIRR

=

ARBEERR/NEGREUBRRIZE
HRAIIENEREERSBARE
HEEAE AR ERSE

REANBRAERINAAEN R
REEBH LMEERNBEBREA
REHE -

TERAREENAEZEEREEN
RREEIINDEERRMAGKE
RO RBABE) AR AARERER
BB RRBAREERREAR
BORABEREE - BAREFENR
(F—REE=R) -

F—RAREFEREREE
EXBBEERTS LORE
CRIETHE) E1T

F_RANEFEREF R
IS EERBERBENRE
AN A BB ETT - BRAR
BATEESH (EHFT&)&F‘EHK
B (BREER) ;

F=ZRMANEFERBEER
THETT > BRI BRELIENA
RSB REENEE
FEBEHAZBBR(IAERS
AHIE) -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. 2RI E (%
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ ®@I E WAREFE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated REEHBERRREINAAETE
statement of financial position (Continued) (&)
Financial assets in the Valuation
consolidated statement Fair value techniques
of financial position Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs
REERBRRENEREE RUTRHNARE ARERBR HERGRIEBARE
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Deposit placed for a life insurance Assets — Assets — Level 3 Discounted cash flows —
policy classified as financial HK$2,760,000 HK$2,725,000 reference to expected cash
assets at FVTPL flows and applied
appropriate discount rate
AR RBBBERRAAER BE— BEE— =1 ERBNHRERE — 2%
HSMRIREF R 2,760,000 T 2,725,000 T HHReREREER
HEETRE
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 31. WE—EHMELQE

31.

On 20 September 2019, the Group acquired an 100% interest in AP
Rentals (Shanghai) Limited (“AP Shanghai”) from its shareholders
for a consideration of HK$18.3 million. This acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method. AP Shanghai is principally
engaged in the construction equipment rental services business in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") since 2015. AP Shanghai
was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the Group's leasing
of machinery business in the PRC.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$212,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense , within the administrative expenses line
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

201959 A20R » AEBKEHEE( L
B)ERAR ([ERBLE]) AR W EE
100% A% - RIEA183EB BT A
BEFEAEEAEAAR - 820156 » 51
HEBFZEAFEYPREERERERDS
Ko WEDRA SN EBRERAEER
AR BB A AR & 357 -

212,000 TR BB BK AN E e EE
EHGIRR - WERRAAINGEEER

Hih2EMERANITEEASZA5)EE A
R o

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T
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31.

SN E R

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

31.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition

are as follows:

Wi —EHE AT (&)
RINEBBMKE s EERFIER B8FE
mE

HKS'000
FH&TT
Property, plant and equipment MNEE - M N ER 19914
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 2 5 & B e UL IE - 1 & RIBN FIE 3,770
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR IR 1,300
Trade and other payables and accrued charges B REMENTUEREFER (992)
Tax liabilities MIBRE (201)
Loans from a related company D= il 2] /NG = & 75 (4,343)
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE (1,148)
18,300
The fair value of trade and other receivables at the date of acquisition REEHNE S R H A ERKRIEA AR

amounted to HK$2,450,000. The gross contractual amounts of those
trade and other receivables acquired amounted to HK$2,771,000 at
the date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected amounted to

HK$321,000.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of AP Shanghai:

BA24500008 L RIKERH - BAE
SMBE KT REMKIE B 5 Rk EME
W FRIE 52,771,000/ 78 - IRUEE B HR - 78
HEFRRZANRESREZRERTB
321,000/ 7T °

WiE AR LB FER

HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration paid EESNRE 18,300
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired o CWEERITAER LIRS (1,300)
17,000
Included in the loss for the year is HK$509,000 attributable to the A 5090008 st ARNFEEIE > BRERE

additional business generated by AP Shanghai. Revenue for the year

includes HK$755,000 generated from AP Shanghai.

BEBNBEINETS - DREBLEBRAFE
AR B UR 25 75 755,000 4 TT
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ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 31. WE-—ENBLR @
Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2019, revenue for the UK EE R 2019 4 A 1 B + AEBAIA
year of the Group would have been HK$148,138,000, and loss for the FRE W= 51481380008 7T + MAE
year of the Group would have been HK$18,294,000. The pro forma B ARG [ 518 15 /3 18,294,000 8 7T © 1B E &
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an KEEHBAZA U —EBTAEEN
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that URBE R 20194F 4 A1 BERHY E\F’XH& 5 N A
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been ERER - MEBTERIRKE
completed on 1 April 2019, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.
In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had MEENREED LBRAFE YR
AP Shanghai been acquired at the beginning of the current year, the RASER [EZ ] Wamfaf - NRARE
directors of the Company have: EVE
calculated depreciation of plant and equipment acquired on BB EB SN VR ST RIETE
the basis of the fair values arising in the initial accounting for ERRRE ﬁﬁ?lﬂlﬁlﬁﬁﬁu B 75 S 3k P A
the business combination rather than the carrying amounts REREERE S AR HE
recognised in the pre-acquisition financial statements; and e &
determined borrowing costs based on the funding levels, REBAHBEREENESKT - 5
credit ratings and debt/equity position of the Group after the BT R B, HE s kR T 1A K
business combination. PN
OPERATING LEASES 32. KEHERE
The Group as lessee AEERABEA
The Group had contracted for the following future minimum lease AEBERBEPAIRBELLEHETER T
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as HA ] fE i B R SR S (A &K
follows:
2019
20194
HK$'000
FH&T
Within one year —FRN 1,150

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated for a period of
one to five years and rentals are fixed at the time of entering the
respective leases.

KEHENHRAEEREETHAED
XEMNNES - BEMERS—ERF
MBEREI LS HERETE -

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T
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32. OPERATING LEASES (Continued)
The Group as lessor
Income earned from leasing of machinery during the year is
HK$101,691,000 (2019: HKS$112,086,000). Leases are negotiated on a
monthly basis.

Minimum lease payment receivable on leases are as follows:

. REHEERE®)

REEBAEHBEA

RAFE HBA®BAMBERDKAR
101,691,000 7T (20194F : 112,086,00077T) °
HEHERATE -

PR ESEREMRAT
2020

2020 £
HK$’000

FET

Within one year —&FR

204

The Group had contracted with customers for the following future
minimum lease payments:

AR ERES 2 THNRRRERE K
T

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

Within one year —&FR

853




33.

34.
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ARE B SRR N At

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #(ZE 20203 A31 HIEFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EXERE
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
Capital expenditure in respect FLE T URBE Y5 - He N sk
of the acquisition of property, BARREE VSRR FHRBED
plant and equipment contracted BT
for but not provided in the
consolidated statement
of financial statements -
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34. EEEH
The following assets were pledged to banks as securities to secure RBERARERTRITIERAEBER
the borrowings and facilities granted to the Group at the end of the fERRBRERAROEENT

reporting period:

2020 2019

2020 20194F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHET

Property, plant and equipment LIERR T Y& 10,284 8,653
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy ~ Z R B 17K 2,760 2,725

Pledged bank deposit EHERRITIFR 360 360

13,404 11,738

©
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Other than as disclosed elsewhere, during the year, the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties in which
some directors have beneficial interests:

35. BEAIEE
BEMBAFHEBEN  REAFE - K&
EERETFEERE TSSO T
THRS :

©

+ Annual Report 2020

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

2020 2019
2020 2019
Related Related
companies companies
in which in which
Mr. Lau Mr. Lau
Pong Sing Pong Sing
A subsidiary has A subsidiary has
ofa beneficial ofa beneficial
shareholder interest shareholder interest
IR EE ZIFBR KA
—ERRN HEEERES —&REN HEEEmEx
(o NG HYEAEE D = (o) olek NG
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHT FHIT
Delivery income RAFBA 119 23
Leasing income of machinery — ##EEHA 1,561 687
Other service income H A FREUA 181 418
Sales of parts THHE 731 836
Storage income BERA 1,521 -
Sundry income HIEWA 1,668 =
Expenses recharge U ER B 52 251 -
Operating lease expenses BERAHSEWE
in respect of rented REHERT
machinery 22,812 -
Purchases of inventories REFE 12 -
Acquisition of property, Wi - R
plant and equipment B4 - -
Balances with related parties are disclosed in the consolidated RAEE 5 SRR PR & I IS AR R 2R AR B B 5
statement of financial position and related notes. %R o

ARAENEIBEREABRES  MRSE
BB & 5T ABRRE 11 FTREE A S o

The Company’s key management personnel are the directors and
their remunerations are included in the emoluments disclosed in
note 11.
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NOTES TO CONSOLDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe TSR M EE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{ZE 202043 A 31 HILFE

RETBELENEBEYHK

TRIBAKBERAREEZDELNEESR

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. A BERERIFREEEH - mES
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash PEFNEEREHREREIARKRE S
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's MEEIBRAEEBGABEERERTH
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HARMBRIMBEESRENAE -
activities.
Trade
payable-
Dividend interest Lease
payable bearing  Borrowings liabilities Total
TRES
ERRE EARIE EE HESE #st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHT FHT FHIT FHT
1 April 2018 20184 1R - - 20,080 - 20,080
Financing cash flows BERSRE (3,024) - (3132 - (6,156)
Finance costs BB R AR - - 513 = 513
Dividend recognised BERAED K E
as distribution 3,024 - - - 3,024
At 31 March 2019 7201963 8318 - - 17,461 - 17,461
Financing cash flows MEBRERE - (500) 4728 (1,543) 2,685
Finance costs BhE AR - = 975 140 1115
New lease entered/ HEIHEE T
lease modified e - - - 8,687 8,687
Acquisition of property, — UgBEWIEE - HEAR 2
plant and equipment B - 18,975 - - 18,975
At 31 March 2020 R2020F3 A31H = 18,475 23,164 7,284 48,923

ENA-IE2 Rz ARz T
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. MEBRAAFE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 and 31 720203 A31 H & 2019F3 A31H » AR
March 2019 were as follows: GGG =L CNE
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary
registration/ share capital/
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital Equity interests attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEARAR
AL/ EERE/
HWEARER R/ mEny AfRA R A K@ RE TEXH
Directly Indirectly
Ei 553
2019 2019
2019% 2019%
AP Rentals (BVI) Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands USs2 100% - Investment holding
AP Rentals (BV)) Holdings EBRIES IET REER
Limited
AP Rentals Limited Hong Kong HK$27,378,000 - 100%  Investment holding, trading and leasing
of machinery and parts, and provision
of operating and other related services
SBAREERAR A 27378000787 REER - BERLARHEES
DA R FRHL B A R E bR RS
AP Equipment Leasing and Macau MOP25,000 = 100%  Leasing of construction machinery
Engineering Limited
SEARBAERTE 2P 25000:RF R RS
BRAT
AP Equipment Rentals Singapore SGD100,000 100% - Trading and leasing of machinery and
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. parts, provision of operating and
other related services
AP Equipment Rentals g 10000037 S0 T BERMERA RSN RELER
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. HiBRRS
AP Rentals China (BVI) British Virgin Islands USs2 100% - Inactive
Holdings Limited
AP Rentals China (BV) EBRNEE E EREH
Holdings Limited
AP Power Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100%  Inactive
(2019: Luen On Heavy
Equipment Ltd.)
SRATNERAR E BERXEK
AP Rentals (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - N/A Inactive
SRABE(FE)BRAR  BA BET
AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited The PRC 1S$2,100,000 - N/A Leasing of construction machinery
GRARRIIEEM(LE) bzl 201
BRAT

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of RERE IR - BEN B AR B BITERES
the reporting period. B o

A
N
5
K
2
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